2002 BALLOT INFORMATION BOOKLET

Analysis of Statewide Ballot Issues



STATEWIDE ELECTION DAY IS Tuesday, November 5, 2002

Polling places open from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. (Early Voting Begins October 21, 2002)

A YES vote on any ballot issue is a vote IN FAVOR OF changing current law or existing circumstances, and a NO vote on any ballot issue is a vote AGAINST

changing current law or existing circumstances.

COLORADO GENERAL ASSEMBLY

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Rep. Doug Dean, Chairman Sen. Stan Matsunaka, Vice Chairman Sen. John Andrews Rep. Dan Grossman Rep. Lola Spradley Sen. Bill Thiebaut

STAFF

Charles S. Brown, Director Daniel Chapman, Assistant Director, Administration Deborah Godshall, Assistant Director, Research



LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL

ROOM 029 STATE CAPITOL DENVER, COLORADO 80203-1784 E-mail: lcs.ga@state.co.us (303) 866-3521 FAX: 866-3855 TDD: 866-3472 September 10, 2002 COMMITTEE

Sen. Ken Chlouber Sen. Mark Hillman Sen. Doug Linkhart Sen. Marilyn Musgrave Sen. Ed Perlmutter Sen. Terry Phillips Rep. Rob Fairbank Rep. Keith King Rep. William Sinclair Rep. Joe Stengel Rep. Abel Tapia Rep. Jennifer Veiga

Dear Colorado Voter:

This booklet provides information on proposed changes to the state constitution and state statutes to be decided upon at the 2002 statewide election. The booklet presents this information in two sections.

Analyses of Proposed Changes to the Colorado Constitution and the Statutes

The first section contains an analysis of each proposed change to the state constitution and state statutes. The state constitution requires the nonpartisan research staff of the General Assembly to prepare these analyses and to distribute them in a ballot information booklet to active registered voters. Each analysis describes the major provisions of a proposal and comments on the proposal's application and effect. It also summarizes major arguments for and against each proposal and the proposal's estimated fiscal impact. Careful consideration has been given to the arguments in an effort to fairly represent both sides of the issue. The Legislative Council, the committee of the General Assembly responsible for reviewing the analyses, takes no position on the merits of the proposals.

Title and Text of Proposed Referred and Initiated Measures

The second section contains the title and the legal language of each proposed change to the state constitution and state statutes.

Sincerely,

Doug Dean

Representative Doug Dean, Chairman

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Amendment 27	Campaign Finance
Amendment 28	Mail Ballot Elections
Amendment 29	Selecting Candidates for Primary Elections 11 Title and Text of Proposal60
Amendment 30	Election Day Voter Registration
Amendment 31	English Language Education
Referendum A	Exempt Elected District Attorneys from Term Limits
Referendum B	Public/Private Ownership of Local Health Care Services
Referendum C	Qualifications for County Coroners26 Title and Text of Proposal79
Referendum D	Repeal of Obsolete Constitutional Provisions28 <u>Title and Text of Proposal</u> 80
Referendum E	Cesar Chavez State Holiday

NOTE

ANALYSES

Amendment 27 Campaign Finance

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

- reduces the amount of money that *individuals* and *political committees* can contribute to candidates and various political organizations;
- limits the amount of money that *political parties* can contribute to candidates;
- creates small donor committees which may accept up to \$50 per individual per year, and allows these committees to contribute ten times more to candidates than can an individual;
- sets voluntary spending limits for political races;
- recalculates contribution and spending limits for inflation every four years, but such recalculation may not change contribution limits;
- requires reporting and disclosure of money spent for certain political advertisements;
- requires individuals who contribute over \$100 to disclose their occupation and employer; and
- regulates ballot issue committees.

Background

Campaign finance is regulated by federal law for candidates in federal races; Colorado law regulates campaign finance for state and local candidates. Courts have also been involved in campaign finance by setting limits on what such laws can regulate and ruling on specific federal and state campaign finance provisions. This proposal changes Colorado campaign finance law and places the changes in the state constitution.

Contribution limits. Table 1 shows the maximum amount of money that can be contributed to candidates under this proposal.

Amendment 27: Campaign Finance.....1

Table 1. Maximum Contribution Limits for Candidates per Election Cycle¹ (Limits under the "Proposed" column would become effective on December 6, 2002; limits under the "Present" column apply to current election cycles) Individual and Political Corporate and Union										
	Committee to Candidate		Political Party to Candidate		Small Donor Committee to Candidate		Contributions to Candidate			
	Prop	osed	Present	Proposed ²	Present	Prop	osed	Present	Proposed ³	Present
	Primary	General				Primary	General			
Governor	\$500	\$500	\$5,000	\$500,000	No Limit	\$5,000	\$5,000	NA	Prohibited	\$5,000
Lieutenant Governor ⁴	NA	NA	\$2,500	NA	No Limit	NA	NA	NA	Prohibited	\$2,500

Secretary of State	\$500	\$500	\$2,500	\$100,000	No Limit	\$5,000	\$5,000	NA	Prohibited	\$2,500
State Treasurer	\$500	\$500	\$2,500	\$100,000	No Limit	\$5,000	\$5,000	NA	Prohibited	\$2,500
Attorney General	\$500	\$500	\$2,500	\$100,000	No Limit	\$5,000	\$5,000	NA	Prohibited	\$2,500
State Senate	\$200	\$200	\$1,500	\$18,000	No Limit	\$2,000	\$2,000	NA	Prohibited	\$1,500
State House of Representatives	\$200	\$200	\$1,000	\$13,000	No Limit	\$2,000	\$2,000	NA	Prohibited	\$1,000
State Board of Education	\$200	\$200	\$1,000	\$13,000	No Limit	\$2,000	\$2,000	NA	Prohibited	\$1,000
CU Board of Regents	\$200	\$200	\$1,000	\$13,000	No Limit	\$2,000	\$2,000	NA	Prohibited	\$1,000
District Attorney	\$200	\$200	\$1,500	\$13,000	No Limit	\$2,000	\$2,000	NA	Prohibited	\$1,500

- 1. The proposed contribution limits double for a candidate who has accepted voluntary spending limits if his or her opponent has not accepted the voluntary spending limits and has raised more than 10 percent of the spending limit.
- 2. Spending of personal money is counted as a political party contribution when a candidate accepts voluntary spending limits. Any unexpended campaign contributions that are carried forward to a subsequent election are also counted as political party contributions.
- 3. Corporations and labor unions may establish political committees and small donor committees which may contribute to candidates.
- 4. Under the proposal, the governor and lieutenant governor are considered one office and the contribution and spending limits for governor apply to both candidates.

In addition to limiting contributions to candidates, the proposal limits the amount of money that individuals and various organizations may contribute to political parties, political committees, and small donor committees, as follows.

Contributions to Political Parties

- Under current law, individuals, organizations, and political committees can annually contribute up to \$25,000 to each affiliate of a political party, including state, county, district, and local affiliates. The proposal limits contributions to a total of \$3,000 for all affiliates of a political party. Of the \$3,000, the state-level political party affiliate may receive no more than \$2,500.
- The proposal also limits the amount of money that small donor committees can annually contribute to all affiliates within a political party to \$15,000 combined. Of the \$15,000, the state-level political party affiliate may receive no more than \$12,500.
- Corporations and labor unions cannot contribute to political parties.

Contributions to Political Committees

• The proposal reduces the amount of money that individuals and organizations can contribute to political committees from \$25,000 per year to \$500 every two years.

Contributions to Small Donor Committees

• The proposal caps individual contributions to a small donor committee at \$50 per year.

Currently, political committees are not allowed to knowingly accept contributions from non-U.S. citizens, foreign governments, or foreign corporations that do not have authority to do business in Colorado. The proposal extends the prohibition to candidates, small donor committees, and political parties.

Voluntary spending limits. The proposal establishes voluntary campaign spending limits. Table 2 lists the spending limits in the proposal; current law does not contain any such limits.

Amendment 27: Campaign Finance.....3

Table 2. Proposed Voluntary Spending Limits per Election Cycle

	Voluntary
Candidate	Spending Limit
Governor/ Lieutenant Governor	\$2,500,000
Secretary of State	\$500,000
Attorney General	\$500,000
State Treasurer	\$500,000
State Senate	\$90,000
State House of Representatives	\$65,000
State Board of Education	\$65,000
Regent of the University of Colorado	\$65,000
District Attorney	\$65,000

A candidate's decision to accept the spending limits is binding unless an opponent running for the same office does not accept the limits. Candidates who agree to spending limits may advertise their compliance in political messages. When a candidate agrees to limit spending but an opponent does not, the candidate may receive double the maximum contributions if the opponent has raised more than 10 percent of the spending limit. Any personal money the candidate uses for his or her campaign counts as a political party contribution. Candidates who exceed the spending limits after agreeing to

voluntarily

limit campaign spending can be fined.

Adjustment to contribution and spending limits. The contribution and voluntary spending limits will be recalculated for inflation every four years, but such recalculation may not change contribution limits. Current law requires that contribution limits be increased by 10 percent beginning January 1, 2003, and every four years thereafter.

Unexpended campaign contributions. Current law lists the permissible uses for unexpended campaign contributions for candidates. This proposal further regulates these contributions by requiring that any money carried forward for use in the next election be counted as a contribution from a political party.

Regulation of political advertisements. This proposal regulates two types of political advertisements. The first are those that are made outside the control of a candidate and that *specifically urge* the election or defeat of a candidate. The proposal requires reporting of the

4	Amendment 27:	Campaign	Finance

amount of money spent on the advertisement, the type of advertisement, and the name of the candidate being supported or opposed whenever more than \$1,000 is spent. Further, when any money is spent outside the control of a candidate on this type of advertising during the 30 days before an election, the report must be made within 48 hours. Information about who is paying for the advertisement and a statement that it is not authorized by any candidate must appear in these types of political advertisements. Current law, which requires reporting of all expenditures in excess of \$1,000 within 24 hours and requires

certain disclosure in political advertisements, was struck down by the federal district court.

The second type of political advertisement is one that clearly refers to a candidate *without specifically urging* the election or defeat of the candidate. These advertisements are regulated during the 30 days before a primary election and the 60 days before a general election. Any individual or organization who spends over \$1,000 on these advertisements must report the total amount spent and the name and address of any donor who gives more than \$250 to fund the advertisement. When the donor is an individual, the reports must also contain the individual's occupation and the name of the individual's employer. Current law does not regulate this type of political advertising.

Corporations and labor unions are not allowed to directly fund the two types of political advertisements regulated under this proposal.

Reporting. The proposal extends current reporting requirements to small donor committees and requires any person who contributes over \$100 to a candidate, political committee, issue committee, or political party to disclose his or her occupation and employer.

Penalties. Under this proposal, violating contribution or voluntary spending limits results in a civil penalty of at least double, and up to five times, the amount contributed, received, or spent over the allowable amount. Current law makes violations of campaign finance provisions a class 2 misdemeanor; violations of contribution limits are subject to a civil penalty of double the amount contributed or received.

Arguments For

1) This proposal may reduce the impact of special interests on the political process and increase the
influence of individual citizens. Large monetary contributions give the appearance that
wealthy contributors have undue influence over elections and better access to

Amendment 27:	Campaign	Finance	5
---------------	----------	---------	---

elected officials. By reducing the amount of money that a candidate can accept from special interests and creating small donor committees, the proposal encourages fundraising from a broad base of individual donors.

- 2) The increasing cost of financing campaigns may discourage people from running for public office, especially against opponents with large campaign funds. Voluntary spending limits could reduce the overall amount spent on campaigns, while lower contribution limits could allow more challengers to compete with incumbents in raising campaign funds. The voters benefit when there are more people running for public office.
- 3) Requiring greater disclosure of who pays for political advertising provides more information about who is spending money to influence elections. Now, some types of political advertisements are not regulated and therefore can be paid for anonymously. The proposal gives people information about who is paying for these advertisements right before an election.
- 4) Although corporations and labor unions cannot vote, spending by such entities influences the political process. Under this proposal, these organizations will have to raise money from employees, shareholders, and members who contribute to small donor and political committees rather than directly funding political activities. Corporations and labor unions are already banned from directly contributing to federal candidates; this proposal simply extends the ban to state races.
- 5) Voluntary spending limits may encourage more people to run for public office. People who are intimidated by the amount of money raised and spent on political campaigns may choose to run for public office with voluntary spending limits in place.

Arguments Against

1) Increased regulation of campaign contributions and expenditures has never fulfilled its promise of getting "big money" out of the process. Whether it is at the state or national level, every time tougher controls are placed on campaign financing, big money finds less discernible ways to exert influence. The consequence is more campaign spending outside the control of the candidate and less accountability. Plus, this measure places these detailed campaign finance regulations in the state constitution. If historical patterns are followed, and the new regulations have unintended negative consequences, there is no easy way to make corrections.

6Amendment 27:	Campaign Finance
----------------	------------------

2) The contribution limits in current law are more reasonable than those in the proposal. Lower contribution limits may mean that candidates spend more time fundraising than talking with voters about positions on issues. Contribution limits may benefit incumbents since challengers must typically outspend incumbents to overcome name recognition and other advantages of an officeholder. In addition, the proposal may give wealthy candidates a greater advantage over other candidates since candidates can spend an unlimited amount of their own money on their campaign. Further, small donor committees may have an advantage over individuals and political committees because they can

contribute ten times more money to candidates.

- 3) Voluntary spending limits restrict the amount of money available to a candidate to communicate his or her positions to voters. As a result, when voters cast their ballots, they will have less information about candidates than they currently do, which will undermine public confidence in the process and the officials elected. In any event, if candidates are required to limit the amounts they can raise in political campaigns, interest groups will spend money in elections through indirect forms of political support, none of which need to be reported to election officials or the public.
- 4) Disclosure requirements in current law are sufficient and are a better way to regulate campaign finance. Press reports and opposition campaigns already make the sources of candidates' funding public. Requiring people to disclose their occupation and employer when they contribute over a certain amount of money may discourage people from donating to a candidate or organization.
- 5) Since the voluntary spending limit applies to both a primary and general election, a candidate who faces a primary election may be at a financial disadvantage compared to a candidate who does not have a primary. Accordingly, the voluntary spending limits may reduce or restrict candidate participation and communication with voters.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal is expected to increase state and local revenues and expenditures. State revenue is expected to increase by \$1,200 per year from fines imposed on late filings of campaign finance reports. State expenditures of the Colorado Department of State will increase due to the proposal's increased reporting requirements for both small donor committees and "electioneering" communications. These costs are expected to total \$86,768 in budget year 2002-03. Beginning July 1, 2003, the proposal will increase the department's costs by an

Amendment 27:	Campaign	Finance7	7
---------------	----------	----------	---

estimated \$94,480. These costs include salaries and benefits for two additional employees. The proposal will also increase the number of campaign finance reports filed with local election officials.

Amendment 28 Mail Ballot Elections

The proposed amendment to the *Colorado Revised Statutes*:

- requires most elections held after January 1, 2005, to be conducted only by mail ballot and eliminates voting in precinct polling locations;
- allows local election officials to determine the method of voting in the few elections that do not require mail ballots;
- requires all mail ballots to be returned in a signed envelope either by mail, at drop-off sites, or at designated polling locations on election day;
- adds new security and other requirements for conducting elections by mail and for qualifying ballots before votes are counted; and
- increases the penalties for mail-ballot election fraud and other offenses.

Background

Current law allows certain elections to be held exclusively by mail ballot. Mail ballot elections cannot be used when political party candidates are on the ballot. For example, mail ballot elections are not allowed for a primary, general, or congressional vacancy election or any election held on the same day as these elections. Current law also allows voters in any election to vote by mail using an absentee ballot. This proposal requires that all elections, except certain local elections, be held by mail ballot.

Mail ballot elections under current law. Currently, when an election is conducted by mail, each active registered voter is sent a packet of election materials 15 to 25 days before election day. This packet contains a ballot, instructions for completing the ballot, an inner envelope, and a return envelope. A voter must complete the ballot, place it in the inner envelope, sign and date the return envelope, and

8Amendment 28: Mail Ballot Ele	ctions
--------------------------------	--------

send the packet back to the election official in the return envelope. A ballot must be received by an election official before 7 p.m. on election day to be counted. Before opening the packet, an election official checks that the signature on the envelope matches the printed name on the envelope. If the names match and the ballot is otherwise qualified, it is ready to becounted. The Secretary of State is responsible for overseeing mail ballot elections, which are conducted by local election officials.

Proposed changes for mail ballot elections. The Secretary of State is required to supervise mail ballot elections and develop rules to implement the proposal. Local election officials are required to follow new procedures for conducting mail ballot elections. For example, beginning in 2005, the proposal requires election judges to compare the signature on the ballot envelope against the voter's signature on file with the election official. Signatures that do not match must be reviewed by two other election judges from different political parties. If an election law appears to have been violated, the judges are required to submit questionable signatures to the district attorney. The proposal increases the maximum fine for falsely submitting a ballot or unduly influencing a voter from \$5,000 to \$10,000.

Proposed changes for polling booth voting. For elections involving political party candidates, the proposal requires election officials to maintain polling booth locations on election day at public high schools prior to 2010. Beginning in 2010, election officials must maintain at least one polling booth location in the county. Under the proposal, voters at polling booth locations may use private voting booths to cast the ballot received in the mail or a replacement ballot obtained at the polling booth location. Ballots cast at polling places are enclosed in an inner envelope and a signed return envelope, just like ballots returned by mail or at a drop-off site. In contrast, current law requires a separate polling place for each precinct in elections involving political party candidates. Also, voters currently cast ballots provided to them at the polling place, without a name or other mark to identify the voter.

Arguments For

1) Voting by mail is convenient and may increase the number of voters participating in elections. In the November 2001 election, mail ballot elections may have increased voter turnout since counties with mail ballot elections had an average turnout of 41 percent while those with traditional polling places had a turnout of 32 percent. People can complete their ballots where and when they have time to consider the

Amendment 28:	Mail Ballot	Elections	9
---------------	-------------	-----------	---

candidates and issues. Inconveniences such as bad weather, child care arrangements, or long lines at the polls will no longer be obstacles to voting. In addition, allowing citizens to vote early may limit the influence of last-minute negative campaigning.

- 2) This proposal expands the current practice of conducting elections by mail and adds new security precautions. In the November 2001 election, more than 88 percent of all votes were cast by mail. This and other mail ballot elections, along with an increasing number of votes cast by absentee ballot, have given election officials experience in conducting elections by mail. In addition, the proposal adds new provisions to improve the security of all mail ballot elections, such as requiring election officials to verify voter signatures.
- 3) Mail ballot elections may be less expensive for governments to conduct than other elections because they eliminate the need for voting machines and reduce the need for election judges for each precinct. In addition, with ballots sent automatically to voters and all voters using the same type of ballot, mail ballot elections may be a more uniform system than Colorado's current election system.

Arguments Against

- 1) Mail ballots are vulnerable to fraud because the ballots are out of the control of voters and election officials while being delivered. These ballots can be illegally cast, stolen, or sold. The signature verification process is new and subject to the opinion of election judges who may not be able to distinguish between forged and valid signatures. As a result, some forged ballots may be counted, and some valid ballots may be disqualified. Mail ballots may also be disqualified for procedural reasons such as missing the deadline for returning a ballot; sending a ballot with insufficient postage; errors by post office and election officials; or not signing, dating, or listing an address on the return envelope.
- 2) People who vote by mail may be subject to pressure from employers, family members, and interest groups to vote a certain way when they complete their ballot away from the protection of election judges and private voting booths. Ballot secrecy is also threatened because a voter's name is clearly visible on the return envelope.
- 3) This proposal is unnecessary because voters can already choose to vote by mail by using an absentee ballot. Also, voters may currently obtain a sample ballot to help familiarize themselves with the issues before casting their vote at a polling place. Mail ballot voting may even lessen voters' ability to cast an informed vote if they vote early and

10Amenament 28:	IVIAII Ballot Elections

miss out on late-breaking news. Politicians may lengthen their political campaigns to appeal to early voters. Furthermore, this proposal may confuse voters by eliminating traditional voting methods.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal requires most elections held after January 1, 2005, to be conducted by mail. Elections conducted by mail may cost less than other elections because the cost of mailing ballots to voters is often less than the cost for traditional voting machines and election judges in each precinct. However, the proposal increases costs in the short term to purchase and upgrade county voting systems.

The proposal requires election officials to compare the signature on a mail ballot with the signature on file in the county clerk's office. New computer technology and a signature database would be required in most county clerk offices for election judges to be able to compare signatures from ballots with existing signatures on file. Currently, nineteen counties use a voter registration system supported by the state. This system would need to be modified to accommodate the requirement for signature comparison. Assuming that the requirements of the bill are implemented over two years, the modifications to the system are expected to cost the state \$143,565 in budget year 2002-03 and \$98,000 in budget year 2003-04. These costs would be paid from fees charged by the Department of State. A portion of these costs would be paid to extract signatures from the Department of Revenue's driver license database. Any

costs associated with obtaining signatures in an electronic form would be paid by counties. Election officials would be responsible for paying postage costs for sending ballot packets to voters, but voters would pay the postage to return completed ballots.

Amendment 29 Selecting Candidates for Primary Elections

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Revised Statutes:

- eliminates the role of neighborhood caucus and assembly meetings in selecting candidates for the primary ballot;
- requires all major political party candidates to obtain a requisite number of petition signatures to appear on the primary ballot;

Amendment 29: Selecting Candidates for Primaries......11

- changes the number of petition signatures required to qualify for the ballot for all but two political offices and expands the time allowed for collecting signatures;
- allows a candidate to include a 100-word personal statement on his or her petition;
- modifies the procedure for challenging and resolving conflicts about petition signatures; and
- does not require the election official to investigate the validity of signatures.

Background

State law sets forth the process for major political parties (currently the Democratic and Republican parties) to select candidates for the primary ballot. At a primary election, registered Democrats and Republicans vote for candidates to represent their party at the general election in November. To get on the primary ballot, candidates must either obtain votes cast at assembly meetings or collect petition signatures from voters affiliated with their party. Candidates designated through the assembly process are listed on the ballot before candidates who use the petition process. This proposal eliminates the option of obtaining votes at assemblies and requires all candidates to collect petition signatures to get on the primary ballot.

The caucus and assembly process. Under current law, caucus meetings are organized within each local election precinct to discuss political candidates and issues. To participate in a precinct caucus, a person must be registered to vote and must be affiliated with a major political party. At each neighborhood caucus, delegates are elected to attend an assembly. At an assembly, delegates vote to select the party's candidates for county, legislative, congressional, or statewide races. Candidates who receive at least 30 percent of the delegate votes cast at their assembly appear on the primary ballot. Most candidates are placed on the primary ballot through the caucus and assembly process.

The petition process. Currently, a candidate may choose to bypass the caucus and assembly process and collect petition signatures in order to appear on the primary ballot. The option to collect signatures also presently exists for any candidate who receives between 10 and 30 percent of the votes cast at the assembly. Any candidate who receives less than 10 percent of the vote at an assembly cannot be on the primary ballot.

12Amendment 29:	Selecting Candidates for Primaries
-----------------	------------------------------------

Signature requirements. The proposal changes the number of signatures required to get on the primary ballot for most political offices, in most cases reducing the number from current law. Table 1 shows the signature requirements of current law and this proposal.

Table 1. Current and Proposed Petition Signature Requirements

Political Offices	Current Requirement for 2002 Primary Ballot	Proposed Signature Requirement
U.S. Senator and Governor	10,500; 1,500 from each congressional district	5,000; with at least 250 from each congressional district
U.S. Representative	1,000	1,000
Treasurer, Secretary of State, Attorney General	10,500; 1,500 from each congressional district	2,500; with at least 125 from each congressional district
State Board of Education or CU Regent	10,500 for at-large with 1,500 from each congressional district; 1,000 for districts	500 for at-large 250 for districts
State Legislator	474 to 1,000 for Senator 85 to 1,000 for Representative	300 for Senator 150 for Representative
Regional Transportation District (RTD) Board	250	250
District Attorney	1,000	200
County Offices	20 percent of the votes cast in previous election	50 in a county with fewer than 50,000 residents; 100 elsewhere

The proposal extends the time allowed for collecting signatures from roughly two months to roughly six months. Under current law, candidates may begin collecting signatures on the first Monday in April. This proposal allows candidates to begin collecting signatures as early as November 15 of the year before the election. The proposal also requires that signatures be submitted earlier in the year. Current law requires signatures to be submitted 70 days before the August primary election; this proposal requires signatures to be submitted 95 days before the primary. An election official has seven days to review the petitions and notify the candidate whether the petition appears to be sufficient. A person protesting the election official's decision must identify specific names being challenged and the basis for challenging those names. A protester may also be charged a fee that is reasonably related to the election official's cost of validating the signatures.

Amendment 29: Selecting Candidates for Primaries......13

Arguments For

1) In Colorado, most candidates have been placed on primary ballots through the caucus and assembly process. Because caucus participation has been low, this process is often controlled by

a relatively small number of party activists. The control of the caucus and assembly process by a limited number of people may pose a problem where one party has such a majority in a district that the primary election effectively determines the eventual winner in the general election. This proposal provides for a single system of nominating candidates through petitions.

- 2) This proposal may open up the political process to a greater number of candidates with a wider range of political views, giving voters more choice at the primary election. In 2000, only one in eight primary races was contested. Expanding the time allowed to collect signatures and reducing the number of signatures required make it easier for candidates to petition onto the primary ballot. With more choice among candidates, people may be more likely to vote in primary elections.
- 3) By eliminating the selection of candidates through caucuses and assemblies, this proposal makes Colorado consistent with those states that do not use such processes to place candidates on primary ballots. Political parties can still hold caucus and assembly meetings, and people can attend these meetings to discuss issues, party platforms, and candidates. The proposal allows political parties to spend their energy supporting their candidates in the more-important general election.

Arguments Against

- 1) Caucuses and assemblies are a good way for candidates and voters to meet and discuss issues, and anyone who is interested can attend. By eliminating the selection of candidates at assemblies, the proposal discourages citizens from being active in major political parties. As a result, the proposed system might actually give voters less information about candidates and fewer opportunities for direct interaction with candidates.
- 2) Colorado's current system offers more options for candidates than this proposal offers. The current system, which has been in place for decades, already allows candidates to petition onto the ballot. Also, incumbents should not have to collect signatures to indicate a minimum level of support within the party. This proposal takes away an incentive for attending party meetings, which may cause Colorado's

14	Ame	ndment
29:	Selecting Candidates for Primaries	

major political parties to become fragmented and less able to set a cohesive statewide agenda. In addition, the proposal sets fixed signature requirements that do not automatically change with changes in the state's population.

3) By requiring an individual to declare his or her candidacy almost one month earlier than under current law, the proposal could prevent or deter some people from running for office. This timeline also lengthens the primary election season, and the political advertising that goes along with it, by one month. Collecting signatures may divert resources from promotion of a candidate's campaign message. Also, candidates will have to pay to challenge the validity of petition signatures.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal will increase the number of petitions that must be reviewed by state and local election officials, although the number of signatures required on each petition is lower in many cases. Overall, the proposal is expected to increase the workload of the Colorado Department of State and county clerks in reviewing petitions and verifying petition signatures. The costs to the Department of State are expected to total \$79,040 in budget year 2003-04, including costs for additional temporary staff and computer programming. In budget year 2005-06 and every other budget year thereafter, the department's costs are estimated to be \$64,000 for temporary staff.

The proposal allows an election official to impose a fee for handling protests of the official's decision. The amount of any additional fee revenue will depend on the number of protests filed under the proposal. This additional revenue has not been estimated.

Amendment 30 Election Day Voter Registration

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

 allows eligible Coloradans to register to vote and to cast a ballot on election day for all elections conducted after January 1, 2004.

Amendment 30: Election Day Voter	
Registration	.15

Background

Colorado currently allows individuals to register to vote at various locations and by mail at any time up to 29 days before an election. A person is eligible to register to vote if he or she is a U.S. citizen, is eighteen years old at the time of the election, and is a resident of Colorado and the precinct in which he or she will vote for at least 30 days before the election. An individual registers by signing an affidavit that he or she meets the eligibility requirements. A person who is registered to vote in Colorado, but who moved and failed to re-register, may re-register at any time at their county clerk's office or on election day at their precinct polling place.

This proposal allows eligible individuals who are not registered to register and vote on election day by presenting valid identification at their precinct polling place or county clerk's office. Valid identification includes either a Colorado driver license, state identification card, or other documentation approved by state election officials.

The proposal applies to all elections including primary, general, special district, and municipal elections. The legislature is directed to enact necessary laws to protect against voter fraud.

Arguments For

- 1) Allowing people to register to vote on election day is likely to increase voter participation. Of the six states that allow election day voter registration, four have the highest rates of voter turnout in the country, and all but one have voter turnout higher than Colorado. Public interest in political campaigns generally peaks in the weeks before an election, after voter registration ends. This proposal encourages voter participation by making registration and voting as simple and convenient as possible.
- 2) The current requirement that a person register 29 days prior to an election is a barrier to voting. Election day voter registration provides more opportunity for people to register and vote. It would make voting more accessible for new residents, rural voters, college students, and people with limited access to transportation.
- 3) Colorado's reputation as a state with little election fraud will continue with election day voter registration. As a requirement for registration at the polls, an approved form of photo identification must be provided. Colorado already imposes significant penalties for election fraud, and the proposal requires that the legislature enact

16		Amendment
	on Day Voter Registration	

further safeguards as necessary. The six states that register voters on election day do not report problems with increased voter fraud.

Arguments Against

- 1) Allowing people to register to vote on election day may increase opportunities for voter confusion. The current 29-day registration deadline gives election officials an opportunity to verify that individuals are registered at only one address in the state. A list at each precinct indicates who is registered and who has already voted in the election. Allowing people to register on election day eliminates a safeguard against multiple votes. Further, the identification required by the proposal does not prove citizenship or residency. Because of voter confusion, some states have eliminated or are considering eliminating same-day voter registration.
- 2) Coloradans already have ample opportunities to register before an election. In the 2000 election, 73 percent of the state's voting age population were registered, active voters, and Colorado's voter turnout was higher than the national average. An individual may register to vote at many locations around the state, including any motor vehicle office, offices of political parties and candidates, libraries, temporary sites such as grocery stores, or social services offices. Registration forms may also be printed from the Internet and mailed to or dropped off at county clerks' offices.
- 3) Election day voter registration could be expensive for local governments to implement. Counties, cities, and special districts may have to provide additional staff and the necessary training for precinct workers. Additional ballots and computer equipment, telephones, and other administrative tools to prevent fraud could also add costs. Local governments could be required to staff precincts to register voters during a mail ballot election, even if voting is not taking place at the polling site. Voters may have to wait in long lines while election officials help people fill out forms and present identification.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

Costs may be incurred for printing additional ballots, additional election officials at polling places, and computer-related expenses to register voters. Other costs to the offices of the county clerk are dependent upon the protections the legislature will require to prevent voter fraud.

Amendment 30: Election Day Voter
Registration......17

Amendment 31 English Language Education

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

- requires that all public school students be taught in English unless they are exempted under the proposal;
- requires students who do not speak English (English learners) to be taught English through sheltered English language immersion programs and to be transferred to a regular classroom, generally after one year, unless a waiver is granted;

- allows parents or legal guardians to request a waiver from English immersion requirements under limited conditions and gives schools the power to approve or deny the request;
- authorizes a parent or legal guardian to sue for enforcement of the proposal and provides detailed penalties for teachers, administrators, and school board members; and
- requires all English learners in grades two through twelve to be tested annually in English using a national test of various academic subjects.

Background

Current federal and state laws require school districts to identify English learners, to test their English proficiency annually, and to establish programs to teach these students the English skills necessary to participate in a school's regular education program. Over 70,000 public school students, or approximately 9 percent of Colorado's public school enrollment, qualify as English learners. Generally, these students receive English language assistance through one of the following types of programs.

English as a Second Language: In English as a Second Language (ESL) programs, English learners are taught entirely in English or mainly in English with some native language assistance. Typically, ESL classes include students with different native languages. English learners may attend the ESL program for a part of the day to work strictly on English skills, or attend for a full day and focus both on English and other academic subjects.

18	Amendment
31: English Language Education	

- **Bilingual education programs**: In bilingual programs, English learners are taught academic subjects in their native language while learning English. Bilingual classes usually have students who share the same native language. The length and content of bilingual programs vary, with some programs emphasizing the development of native language skills more than others.
- **Dual language programs or dual immersion programs**: In dual language programs, subjects are taught in two languages in order to develop proficiency in both languages. Students in these programs may be fluent in English or be English learners.

Proposal for English immersion programs. The proposal requires school districts to teach English learners in English immersion programs. In these immersion programs, students will be taught English and other academic subjects in English at a level appropriate to their language skills. Generally, the length of time for students to participate in the program is one year, after which time students will begin attending regular classes. School districts may place English learners of different ages, but with similar English skills, in the same classroom. The proposal's requirements do not apply to foreign language programs or to special education programs.

Parents or legal guardians may request a waiver from the English immersion program for their child. Students who may be eligible for a waiver include: students who already possess adequate English skills, students who are ten years of age or older, and students with special needs. School officials decide whether to grant or deny the request for the waiver. Schools in which twenty or more students of the same grade level have received a waiver are required to offer a different type of program, such as a bilingual program. In all other cases, students with a waiver may transfer to a school that offers a different type of program of instruction.

Parents or legal guardians of any Colorado public school student may sue for enforcement of the proposal. Additionally, a school district employee or board member may be sued and may be held

personally liable for "willfully and repeatedly" failing to implement English immersion programs. A final enforcement provision concerns parents of children with special needs. Parents who receive a waiver for their child with special needs have a ten-year window during which they may sue school officials for issuing the waiver, if the parents conclude that the waiver injured the education of their child.

Amendment 31: English Language	
Education	19

Arguments For

- 1) Learning English as quickly as possible ensures that English learners are not left behind their peers. Current programs, including bilingual education, have not adequately addressed the needs of English learners, and this proposal provides a different approach. Under the proposal, English learners will be taught in English and placed into a school's regular academic program after one year. Learning English quickly will enable English learners to develop the necessary skills and knowledge to improve their future education and career choices.
- 2) Colorado needs a uniform statewide policy for teaching English learners. English learners who move between school districts may encounter different programs, which can delay their academic progress. Further, students should not be used as a part of educational experiments, as school districts try out different approaches to English instruction. The proposal focuses on students' acquisition of solid English skills, rather than the maintenance of native language skills, and provides a uniform philosophy for school districts. School districts retain enough flexibility to tailor programs to their students' needs.
- 3) Once English learners become reasonably fluent in English, they will be transferred into regular classrooms, increasing their opportunities to practice and use English. In addition, cultural awareness and interaction between children of different backgrounds will enhance the education of all children.

Arguments Against

1) The proposal restricts parental choice and local control of education. Many parents want their children to develop skills in more than one language so that they will be better prepared to live and work within a global economy. By requiring that all instruction be in English, the proposal limits the ability of school districts to offer innovative language programs, even if the programs are effective and respond to the needs and wishes of the school community. In addition, school districts may be cautious in granting waiver requests from parents seeking different programs because of the possibility of legal action against the school and its employees. Any teacher, administrator, or school board member who is found in violation of this amendment is subject to a lawsuit, and restricted from teaching or holding public office for five years. Parents retain the right to sue school district employees and school board members for up to ten years.

20.	Amendmer	ηt
31:	English Language Education	

2) The speed by which a student learns cannot be mandated by law. The proposal creates an unrealistic expectation that English can be learned by all children in one year. However, the speed by which a child becomes fluent in English depends on the child's age, cultural circumstances, previous education, and socioeconomic background. Some children may take longer than one year to achieve a level of proficiency comparable to their English-speaking peers. If programs are too rigid, students' individual needs may not be met.

3) The proposal adds another layer of testing requirements for English learners. School districts will have to test English learners in English every year using a national test in addition to the Colorado Student Assessment Program (CSAP) tests. The additional testing for English learners means further administrative expense and time away from classroom teaching.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

While the proposal will not increase or decrease state expenditures, local school districts' expenditures will be impacted. Under the proposal, some school districts will have to revamp their curricula, staff assignments, and testing procedures. However, the net impact to all school districts cannot be predicted because the impacts will vary depending on how each individual school district implements the proposal.

Referendum A Exempt Elected District Attorneys from Term Limits

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

eliminates term limits for elected district attorneys.

Background

Term limits. Colorado has term limits for elected state and local officials. The Colorado Constitution limits the length of office for the governor, lieutenant governor, secretary of state, state treasurer, and attorney general to two consecutive four-year terms. Members of the Colorado legislature may serve up to four consecutive two-year terms in the House of Representatives and two consecutive four-year terms

Referendum A: District Attorney	Term
Limits	21

in the Senate. Members of the State Board of Education and the University of Colorado Board of Regents are limited to two consecutive six-year terms.

The maximum term of office for local elected officials is two consecutive terms. Although not expressly stated in the constitution, the Colorado Attorney General interprets the limits on terms of local elected officials to also apply to elected district attorneys. The Colorado Constitution allows the voters of a political subdivision to eliminate or change the term limits for a local official. However, the Colorado Secretary of State determined that only the state legislature can put a proposal before the voters of a judicial district to alter term limits for that district. District attorney term limits can also be altered through a constitutional amendment. This proposal amends the constitution to repeal term limits for district attorneys.

District attorneys. Colorado is divided into 22 judicial districts. The voters in each judicial district elect one district attorney who is responsible for the prosecution of criminal cases in that district. The district attorney determines which crimes to prosecute and recommends a penalty to the court. The district attorney also provides legal advice to police officers, assists in preparing search warrants, advises grand jury investigations, and may defend the counties of the district in court. In addition, the district attorney oversees an office of deputy district attorneys and support staff and prepares and administers a budget for the office. The Colorado Constitution requires a district attorney to be a licensed attorney for at least five years prior to being elected and to be a resident of the district throughout his or her term in office. A district attorney's term of office is four years.

Arguments For

- 1) Eliminating term limits allows residents of a judicial district to retain the expertise and experience of their district attorney. District attorneys must have specialized legal skills including knowledge of criminal law, court procedures, and police functions. Seventeen of the 22 district attorneys, with a combined total of over 200 years in office, will be term limited in 2004.
- 2) Term limits are unnecessary because district attorneys are already accountable to the public. Voters may remove a district attorney through the normal election process or by a recall election. District attorneys work in a public forum where their acts are a matter of public record and open to review by citizens. Further, smaller, more rural districts may have difficulty attracting a candidate who meets the requirements of the position.

22......Referendum

A: District Attorney Term Limits

3) This proposal would eliminate the destabilizing effect that term limits could have on a district attorney's office. Citizens and law enforcement officers within a judicial district rely on consistent law enforcement practices that may change when term limits force a district attorney to step down. New district attorneys may be placed at a disadvantage when taking over complex cases from a term-limited district attorney. In addition, term limits might discourage skilled attorneys from running for district attorney as their prosecutorial career could end after two terms. Of the 17 states with term limits, only Colorado limits the length of service for the district attorney.

Arguments Against

- 1) Term limits provide a check on the decision-making power of district attorneys. A district attorney decides who to charge and which crimes to charge. Limiting district attorneys to two terms could lessen any concern the public may have that politically motivated decision-making occurs within the office. An exception should not be made for this elected official who has significant power to enforce criminal laws. In 2004, term limits will affect district attorneys for the first time, and this proposal removes term limits before their effects can be evaluated.
- 2) Term limits could result in more candidate choices for the voter. Incumbents have name recognition and financial advantages that are difficult for challengers to overcome. In the past 20 years, 78 percent of the district attorneys running for reelection did not have a challenger. Term limits could provide greater opportunity for attorneys who are not career prosecutors to bring new ideas to law enforcement. More competition for the office could also lead to more aggressive prosecutorial policies and greater responsiveness to public opinion over the long term. Unlimited years of service do not necessarily provide the citizens with better prosecutors or a more responsive and sound prosecutorial policy. Voters can be trusted to fill the office with a qualified candidate.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal does not increase state or local expenditures or taxes, nor does it affect the amount of taxpayer refunds from either the state or local governments.

Referendum A: District Attorney Term

Referendum B

Public/Private Ownership of Local Health Care Services

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

- allows health care services or facilities provided by local governments, such as special districts, counties, and cities, to be provided through a partnership or joint ownership with private companies or individuals;
- provides that a local government's and private company's share of ownership in such services or facilities be based on the amount invested;
- prohibits local governments from going into debt or pledging credit to create and operate health care partnerships; and
- prevents a partnership created to provide a health care service from being considered a local government or public body.

Background

Local government health care services are provided primarily through county and special district hospitals and local health departments. Hospitals operated by local governments provide a range of health care services that are determined by a hospital board and applicable laws. The hospital board is either appointed by county commissioners or elected by the voters. Health departments carry out health programs and control disease. The proposal applies to these services and any other health care services provided by a local government.

In providing health care services, local governments can contract with each other or with private companies or individuals. Local governments can also jointly own health care services or facilities with other government bodies. However, local government health care services and facilities currently cannot be provided through joint ownership or partnership with private companies or individuals. If adopted, this proposal would be the second exemption to the constitutional prohibition on partnerships between local governments and private companies. The constitution currently allows partnerships to provide municipal utility services.

24	Referendum B
Ownership of Health Care Services	

Arguments For

- 1) This proposal could expand the range of health care services available in communities. The development of health care programs requires considerable investment in new equipment and qualified personnel. Local governments could share the cost and the risk of starting up new facilities, technology, or clinical services with medical equipment companies, private hospitals, physicians, or other privately owned enterprises. Health care services could be expanded to include hospice care, emergency clinics, mobile mammography units, physical therapy, and surgery centers in areas of the state where they are not currently available. Reduced overhead and equipment costs, less duplication of services, and increased health care provider recruitment may result.
- 2) Health care partnerships may help provide new sources of revenue to keep existing health care facilities open, particularly in rural areas. This proposal gives local governments the flexibility to enter into business relationships that could help keep health facilities fiscally sound, keep dollars in the local community, prevent people from traveling long distances for medical care, and possibly reduce reliance on taxes. Elected local officials who oversee health care operations will continue to determine which

services to provide, allowing local governments to maintain decision-making authority over health care services.

Arguments Against

1) Demand for a particular health care service should decide where it is provided. If providing services is economically feasible, private companies may provide the health care services without the help of public moneys. Governments should not risk public moneys by investing in private companies, and private companies should not be given the chance to benefit from the investment of public moneys. New partnerships and the private companies involved in these partnerships will not be subject to the same laws and level of public scrutiny as local governments. For example, laws on open public meetings and records and conflict of interest will not apply. In addition, local governments already have the flexibility to contract with private companies to provide health care services without entering into ownership agreements. Contracting offers the efficiency of the private sector with less risk to public moneys.

Referendum B: Ownership of Health Care	
Services	.25

2) The interests of private companies or individuals may not always be to the public's benefit. This measure does not require private companies or individuals to be in the health care field to participate in these partnerships if the result is to provide a health care service, function, or facility. Companies could influence the types or delivery of health care services provided by partnerships, resulting in changes in health care services to maximize the opportunity for profits for private companies. Higher profits do not guarantee better health care services for local communities served by public health facilities.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The fiscal impact on local expenditures and revenues is dependent on the number, if any, of local governments that choose to enter into a partnership with a public or private entity in order to provide health care services. Because the number and nature of these arrangements are unknown, the impact cannot be quantified.

Referendum C Qualifications for County Coroners

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

• permits the legislature to establish qualifications for the office of county coroner, including training and certification requirements.

Background

To run for county coroner, a person must be a U.S. citizen, at least eighteen years old, and a resident of the county for one year prior to an election. These qualifications are outlined in the state constitution. Based on a 1994 ruling by the Colorado Supreme Court, the legislature must have constitutional authority to impose any additional qualifications on the office of county coroner. This proposal allows the legislature to establish qualifications for county coroners, including training and certification requirements. The proposal does not specify the nature or extent of the requirements. The earliest that any qualifications established by the legislature could apply is the 2006 election.

State law requires coroners to determine the cause and manner of death in specific circumstances,

including suspicious deaths, unexplained natural deaths, accidents of all types, and suicides. When such a death occurs, coroners must notify the district attorney, take

26......Referendum C: Qualifications for County Coroners

custody of the body, conduct an independent investigation, cause an autopsy to be performed if necessary, and issue a death certificate. In investigating a death, coroners may have to identify the body, collect and document evidence, obtain medical records, perform tests or examinations of the body, notify the next of kin, or conduct an inquest. Coroners also have the authority to approve or deny organ and tissue donations for transplants in cases under their investigation.

State law encourages, but does not require, candidates for the office of coroner to possess knowledge and experience in the medical-legal investigation of death. Coroners are also encouraged by state law to participate in programs that provide education and training. Training is available through a variety of local and national resources, including a program to become a certified death investigator through the Colorado Coroners Association.

Arguments For

- 1) The complexities of coroner responsibilities require that the individual who holds the office meet minimum qualifications. Coroners are called upon to investigate numerous types of death which include, but are not limited to, all suspicious deaths, unexplained natural deaths, accidents of all types, and suicides. A coroner should have the expertise to properly determine the cause and manner of death and issue a death certificate. This document is used to determine insurance benefits for survivors and settle legal matters, both criminal and civil. In the event that the death is not properly certified, there may be legal or financial implications.
- 2) Training helps to ensure efficient, thorough, and accurate death investigations. Coroners work closely with state and federal agencies, physicians, law enforcement agencies, district and other attorneys, and insurance companies. Training may facilitate greater cooperation between coroners and the agencies and individuals with whom they work.

Arguments Against

1) The constitution should not be changed unless a significant problem exists. Currently, 75 percent of counties have coroners or staff members who are certified death investigators, and all counties have access to death investigation educational programs. The goal of training is being achieved without statutory requirements.

Referendum C: Qualifications for County
Coroners......27

2) Allowing the legislature to establish qualifications and training requirements may narrow the pool of possible candidates. The legislature may develop qualifications that are difficult for some rural and smaller counties to implement. For example, candidates may be required to be certified, trained, or hold a medical degree. Such requirements could limit who is eligible for the office and make filling the office difficult.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

This proposal will not affect state revenues or expenditures and will not require any new state spending. The cost impact to each county will depend on whether the requirements enacted by the legislature are more costly than what counties currently spend for their coroners.

Referendum D Repeal of Obsolete Constitutional Provisions

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Constitution:

- removes expired provisions for events that have already occurred;
- strikes an obsolete reference to legislative authority relating to courts; and
- removes a congressional term-limits provision found unconstitutional by the Colorado Supreme Court in 1998.

Background

Expired provisions. The proposal removes four provisions related to the establishment of a statewide court system and judicial reform:

- a requirement that judges for the then newly created Denver juvenile and probate courts be elected at the 1964 General Election;
- a provision transferring cases from county courts to district courts, when district courts became courts of general jurisdiction effective January 1965;
- a provision that allows sitting judges in January 1967 to serve the remainder of their terms during the transition from elected to appointed judges; and

• language terminating the terms of office for sitting members of the Commission on Judicial Qualifications on July 1, 1983, when it was replaced by the Commission on Judicial Discipline.

The proposal removes two provisions relating to debt that has since been repaid:

- a reference to a 1991 state loan to the Limited Gaming Fund for the initial organizational and administrative expenses to establish gaming in Colorado; and
- a provision regarding the use of lottery proceeds collected from April 1, 1993, to June 30, 1998, for various capital construction projects that have been completed.

The proposal removes additional miscellaneous provisions:

- a 1902 provision regarding temporary officers for the newly established City and County of Denver; and
- provisions regarding annexation by Denver, Lakewood, or Aurora permitted between April 1, 1974, and December 20, 1974.

Obsolete reference to legislative authority. The proposal removes language from 1962 granting the state legislature the authority to provide simplified procedures in county courts for claims not exceeding \$500. In 1964 and 1976, the state legislature passed laws directing the Judicial Branch to adopt

procedures for these courts. The Supreme Court currently provides procedures for all claims filed in county courts and small claims courts.

Unconstitutional provision. The proposal removes a term-limits provision ruled unconstitutional by the Colorado Supreme Court in 1998. The provision directs state and congressional legislators to follow specific steps to amend the federal constitution to implement congressional term limits, and directs the state to note on the ballot which legislators failed to comply. The court found the provision violates the U.S. Constitution because it takes away the ability of state and congressional legislators to use their own judgment and, in effect, forces them to vote in a particular way.

Referendum D: Obsolete Constitutional
Provisions......29

Argument For

1) The proposal updates the constitution by deleting an unconstitutional provision, irrelevant language, and procedures that no longer serve a useful purpose. The state constitution should not be cluttered with obsolete provisions.

Argument Against

1) The proposal eliminates provisions that express the will of the people on term limits or have other historical significance. Removing these provisions may diminish the historical character of the constitution and make future research of constitutional provisions and state laws more difficult.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal does not affect state or local revenues or expenditures.

Referendum E Cesar Chavez State Holiday

The proposed amendment to the Colorado Revised Statutes:

designates March 31st as "Cesar Chavez Day" and makes it a legal holiday for state employees.

Background

Cesar Estrada Chavez was an American civil rights and labor leader. He was born near Yuma, Arizona, on March 31, 1927, and died in 1993. After eighth grade, he left school and worked full time as a migrant farm worker to help support his family. He served in the U.S. Navy during World War II. During the 1950s, he was an organizer in the Community Service Organization, a civil rights group. Later, he founded the organization now known as the United Farm Workers of America. Through peaceful strikes and boycotts, his efforts resulted in agricultural labor reforms such as safe and sanitary working conditions, higher wages, and medical coverage. After his death, Cesar Chavez was awarded the Presidential Medal of Freedom, which is the highest civilian honor bestowed by the federal government.

30.....Referend um E: Cesar Chavez State Holiday

State holidays in Colorado. The proposal increases the number of paid holidays for state employees from ten to eleven starting in 2003. Currently, the state holidays in Colorado are New Year's Day, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Washington-Lincoln Day (also known as Presidents' Day), Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Under current Colorado law, March 31st is recognized as an optional holiday in honor of Cesar Chavez. State agencies are required to remain open on that day. Employees may take the day off with pay if they work another weekday holiday in the same budget year, provided the state agency is open.

Recognition of Cesar Chavez. Three other states recognize Cesar Chavez. It is a state holiday in California and an optional holiday in Texas. Arizona recognizes March 31st as Cesar Chavez Day but does not make it a holiday. On the November 2002 ballot, New Mexico voters will consider a constitutional amendment designating the last Friday in March as a state holiday honoring Cesar Chavez. In Colorado, the City and County of Denver designates the last Monday in March as a holiday honoring Cesar Chavez.

School year holidays in Colorado. Local boards of education set the holidays for the annual school calendar around the minimum hours of state-required school days. If this proposal is adopted, each local board of education will determine if Cesar Chavez Day is a school holiday.

Arguments For

- 1) Cesar Chavez should be honored in Colorado with a state holiday rather than an optional holiday. Holidays honoring individuals focus the public's attention on the individual's contribution to American history and culture. Cesar Chavez was a nationally respected voice for social and economic justice for farm workers, especially Hispanics.
- 2) Many states designate holidays to honor individuals or groups important to citizens of their state. For example, Illinois celebrates Casimir Pulaski Day, Hawaii celebrates King Kamehameha Day, and Wyoming celebrates Native American Day. Cesar Chavez is a role model for all Colorado citizens for his nonviolent approach to social change, and especially for Colorado's Hispanic community. If approved, this proposal would establish eleven state holidays in Colorado, which is the same as the average number of holidays for state employees in other states.

Referendum E: Cesar Chavez State	
Holiday	31

Arguments Against

- 1) The proposal is not needed because the state currently recognizes Cesar Chavez. There are many people who deserve recognition and many ways to celebrate and honor a person's life and accomplishments without taking a day off from work. State employees already have ten days off compared to an average of nine days off for private sector employees. Another state holiday may pose a hardship on those who rely on the daily operations of state agencies.
- 2) Colorado cannot afford a new holiday due to its weakened economy. This proposal will cost the state approximately \$477,000 this year because some agencies will be required to pay holiday wages to employees who will have to work on Cesar Chavez Day. If approved, the legislature may have to shift money from other state programs to pay for the holiday. Additionally, a new holiday will cost the state about \$10 million annually in lost employee productivity.

Estimate of Fiscal Impact

The proposal creates one day of lost employee productivity at a cost of about \$10.1 million each state

budget year. Additionally, \$477,000 in new state expenditures and \$53,800 in federal expenditures will be needed to pay holiday wages to those employees working in facilities open 24 hours per day, seven days per week. These facilities include state prisons and human services centers.

32......Referendu m E: Cesar Chavez State Holidav

TITLES AND TEXT

Amendment 27 Campaign Finance

Ballot Title: An amendment to the Colorado constitution concerning campaign finance, and, in connection therewith, reducing the amount of campaign contributions that persons may make to candidate committees, political committees, and political parties; establishing contribution limits for small donor committees; prohibiting candidate committees and political parties from making or accepting certain contributions; restricting the amount of contributions political parties and political committees may accept from certain sources; limiting contributions and expenditures that may be made by corporations or labor organizations; creating voluntary campaign spending limits; providing for a periodic adjustment of contribution and voluntary spending limits; specifying the treatment of unexpended contributions; requiring the disclosure of information about persons making electioneering communications above a specified amount; defining electioneering communications as certain near-election communications that unambiguously refer to a candidate and are targeted to voters; and incorporating into the constitution existing statutory provisions, with amendments, regarding definitions, deposits of contributions, limits on cash contributions, notice and disclosure of independent expenditures, reporting of contributions and expenditures, civil penalties, and duties of the secretary of state.

Text of Proposal:

Be it enacted by the people of the state of Colorado:

The constitution of the state of Colorado is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW ARTICLE:

ARTICLE XXVIII CAMPAIGN AND POLITICAL FINANCE

Section 1. Purpose and findings. The people of the state of Colorado hereby find and declare that large campaign contributions to political candidates create the potential for corruption and the appearance of corruption; that large campaign contributions made to influence election outcomes allow wealthy individuals, corporations, and special interest groups to exercise a disproportionate level of influence over the political process; that the rising costs of campaigning for political office prevent qualified citizens from running for political office; that because of the use of early voting in Colorado timely notice of independent expenditures is essential for

Amendment 27:	Campaign	
Finance		
.33		

informing the electorate; that in recent years the advent of significant spending on electioneering communications, as defined herein, has frustrated the purpose of existing campaign finance requirements; that independent research has demonstrated that the vast majority of televised electioneering communications goes beyond issue discussion to express electoral advocacy; that political contributions from corporate treasuries are not an indication of popular support for the corporation's political ideas and can unfairly influence the outcome of Colorado elections; and that the interests of the public are best served by limiting campaign contributions, encouraging voluntary campaign spending limits, providing for full and timely disclosure of campaign contributions, independent expenditures, and funding of electioneering communications, and strong enforcement of campaign finance requirements.

Section 2. Definitions. For the purpose of this article and any statutory provisions pertaining to campaign finance, including provisions pertaining to disclosure:

- (1) "Appropriate officer" means the individual with whom a candidate, candidate committee, political committee, small donor committee, or issue committee must file pursuant to section 1-45-109 (1), C.R.S., or any successor section.
- (2) "Candidate" means any person who seeks nomination or election to any state or local public office that is to be voted on in this state at any primary election, general election, school district election, special district election, or municipal election. "Candidate" also includes a judge or justice of any court of record who seeks to be retained in office pursuant to the provisions of section 25 of article VI. A person is a candidate for election if the person has publicly announced an intention to seek election to public office or retention of a judicial office and thereafter has received a contribution or made an expenditure in support of the candidacy. A person remains a candidate for purposes of this article so long as the candidate maintains a registered candidate committee. A person who maintains a candidate committee after an election cycle, but who has not publicly announced an intention to seek election to public office in the next or any subsequent election cycle, is a candidate for purposes of this article.
- (3) "Candidate committee" means a person, including the candidate, or persons with the common purpose of receiving contributions or making expenditures under the authority of a candidate. A contribution to a candidate shall be deemed a contribution to the candidate's candidate committee. A candidate shall have only one candidate committee. A candidate committee shall be considered open and active until affirmatively closed by the candidate or by action of the secretary of state.

34	A
mendment 27: Campaign Finance	

- (4) "Conduit" means a person who transmits contributions from more than one person, directly to a candidate committee. "Conduit" does not include the contributor's immediate family members, the candidate or campaign treasurer of the candidate committee receiving the contribution, a volunteer fund raiser hosting an event for a candidate committee, or a professional fund raiser if the fund raiser is compensated at the usual and customary rate.
 - (5) (a) "Contribution" means:
- (I) the payment, loan, pledge, gift, or advance of money, or guarantee of a loan, made to any candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor committee, or political party;
- (II) any payment made to a third party for the benefit of any candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor committee, or political party;
- (III) the fair market value of any gift or loan of property made to any candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor committee or political party;
- (IV) anything of value given, directly or indirectly, to a candidate for the purpose of promoting the candidate's nomination, retention, recall, or election.
- (b) "Contribution" does not include services provided without compensation by individuals volunteering their time on behalf of a candidate, candidate committee, political committee, small donor committee, issue committee, or political party; a transfer by a membership organization of a portion of a member's dues to a small donor committee or political committee sponsored by such membership organization; or

payments by a corporation or labor organization for the costs of establishing, administering, and soliciting funds from its own employees or members for a political committee or small donor committee.

- (6) "Election cycle" means either:
- (a) the period of time beginning thirty-one days following a general election for the particular office and ending thirty days following the next general election for that office;
- (b) the period of time beginning thirty-one days following a general election for the particular office and ending thirty days following the special legislative election for that office; or
- (c) the period of time beginning thirty-one days following the special legislative election for the particular office and ending thirty days following the next general election for that office.
- (7) (a) "Electioneering communication" means any communication broadcasted by television or radio, printed in a newspaper or on a billboard, directly mailed or delivered by hand to personal residences or otherwise distributed that:
 - (I) unambiguously refers to any candidate; and

Amendment 27: Campaign		
Finance	 	
35		

- (II) is broadcasted, printed, mailed, delivered, or distributed within thirty days before a primary election or sixty days before a general election; and
- (III) is broadcasted to, printed in a newspaper distributed to, mailed to, delivered by hand to, or otherwise distributed to an audience that includes members of the electorate for such public office.
 - (b) "Electioneering communication" does not include:
- (I) any news articles, editorial endorsements, opinion or commentary writings, or letters to the editor printed in a newspaper, magazine or other periodical not owned or controlled by a candidate or political party;
- (II) any editorial endorsements or opinions aired by a broadcast facility not owned or controlled by a candidate or political party:
- (III) any communication by persons made in the regular course and scope of their business or any communication made by a membership organization solely to members of such organization and their families;
 - (IV) any communication that refers to any candidate only as part of the popular name of a bill or statute.
- (8) (a) "Expenditure" means any purchase, payment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money by any person for the purpose of expressly advocating the election or defeat of a candidate or supporting or opposing a ballot issue or ballot question. An expenditure is made when the actual spending occurs or when there is a contractual agreement requiring such spending and the amount is determined.
 - (b) "Expenditure" does not include:
- (I) any news articles, editorial endorsements, opinion or commentary writings, or letters to the editor printed in a newspaper, magazine or other periodical not owned or controlled by a candidate or political party:
- (II) any editorial endorsements or opinions aired by a broadcast facility not owned or controlled by a candidate or political party;
- (III) spending by persons, other than political parties, political committees and small donor committees, in the regular course and scope of their business or payments by a membership organization for any communication solely to members and their families;
- (IV) any transfer by a membership organization of a portion of a member's dues to a small donor committee or political committee sponsored by such membership organization; or payments made by a corporation or labor organization for the costs of establishing, administering, or soliciting funds from its own employees or members for a political committee or small donor committee.
- (9) "Independent expenditure" means an expenditure that is not controlled by or coordinated with any candidate or agent of such candidate. Expenditures that are controlled by or coordinated with a candidate or candidate's agent are deemed to be both contributions

36	A	me
ndment 27:	Campaign Finance	

by the maker of the expenditures, and expenditures by the candidate committee.

- (10)(a) "Issue committee" means any person, other than a natural person, or any group of two or more persons, including natural persons:
 - (I) that has a major purpose of supporting or opposing any ballot issue or ballot question; or
- (II) that has accepted or made contributions or expenditures in excess of two hundred dollars to support or oppose any ballot issue or ballot question.
- (b) "Issue committee" does not include political parties, political committees, small donor committees, or candidate committees as otherwise defined in this section.
- (c) An issue committee shall be considered open and active until affirmatively closed by such committee or by action of the appropriate authority.
- (11) "Person" means any natural person, partnership, committee, association, corporation, labor organization, political party, or other organization or group of persons.
- (12) (a) "Political committee" means any person, other than a natural person, or any group of two or more persons, including natural persons that have accepted or made contributions or expenditures in excess of \$200 to support or oppose the nomination or election of one or more candidates.
- (b) "Political committee" does not include political parties, issue committees, or candidate committees as otherwise defined in this section.
 - (c) For the purposes of this article, the following are treated as a single political committee:
- (I) all political committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a single corporation or its subsidiaries:
- (II) all political committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a single labor organization; except that, any political committee established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a local unit of the labor organization which has the authority to make a decision independently of the state and national units as to which candidates to support or oppose shall be deemed separate from the political committee of the state and national unit;
 - (III) all political committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by the same political party;
- (IV) all political committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by substantially the same group of persons.
- (13) "Political party" means any group of registered electors who, by petition or assembly, nominate candidates for the official general election ballot. "Political party" includes affiliated party organizations at the state, county, and election district levels, and

Amendment 27:	Campaign		
Finance		 	
.37			

all such affiliates are considered to be a single entity for the purposes of this article, except as otherwise provided in section 7.

- (14)(a) "Small donor committee" means any political committee that has accepted contributions only from natural persons who each contributed no more than fifty dollars in the aggregate per year. For purposes of this section, dues transferred by a membership organization to a small donor committee sponsored by such organization shall be treated as pro-rata contributions from individual members.
- (b)"Small donor committee" does not include political parties, political committees, issue committees, or candidate committees as otherwise defined in this section.
 - (c) For the purposes of this article, the following are treated as a single small donor committee:
- (I) all small donor committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a single corporation or its subsidiaries:
 - (II) all small donor committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a single labor

organization; except that, any small donor committee established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a local unit of the labor organization which has the authority to make a decision independently of the state and national units as to which candidates to support or oppose shall be deemed separate from the small donor committee of the state and national unit;

- (III) all small donor committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by the same political party;
- (IV) all small donor committees established, financed, maintained, or controlled by substantially the same group of persons.
- (15) "Unexpended campaign contributions" means the balance of funds on hand in any candidate committee at the end of an election cycle, less the amount of all unpaid monetary obligations incurred prior to the election in furtherance of such candidacy.
- **Section 3. Contribution limits.** (1) Except as described in subsections (2), (3), and (4) of this section, no person, including a political committee, shall make to a candidate committee, and no candidate committee shall accept from any one person, aggregate contributions for a primary or a general election in excess of the following amounts:
 - (a) five hundred dollars to any one:
- (I) governor candidate committee for the primary election, and governor and lieutenant governor candidate committee, as joint candidates under 1-1-104, C.R.S., or any successor section, for the general election;
 - (II) secretary of state, state treasurer, or attorney general candidate committee; and

38		Am
	: Campaign Finance	

- (b) two hundred dollars to any one state senate, state house of representatives, state board of education, regent of the university of Colorado, or district attorney candidate committee.
- (2) No small donor committee shall make to a candidate committee, and no candidate committee shall accept from any one small donor committee, aggregate contributions for a primary or a general election in excess of the following amounts:
 - (a) five thousand dollars to any one:
- (I) governor candidate committee for the primary election, and governor and lieutenant governor candidate committee, as joint candidates under 1-1-104, C.R.S., or any successor section, for the general election;
 - (II) secretary of state, state treasurer, or attorney general candidate committee; and
- (b) two thousand dollars to any one state senate, state house of representatives, state board of education, regent of the university of Colorado, or district attorney candidate committee.
- (3)(a) No political party shall accept aggregate contributions from any person, other than a small donor committee as described in paragraph (b) of this subsection (3), that exceed three thousand dollars per year at the state, county, district, and local level combined, and of such amount no more than twenty-five hundred dollars per year at the state level;
- (b) No political party shall accept aggregate contributions from any small donor committee that exceed fifteen thousand dollars per year at the state, county, district, and local level combined, and of such amount no more than twelve thousand, five hundred dollars at the state level;
- (c) No political party shall accept contributions that are intended, or in any way designated, to be passed through the party to a specific candidate's candidate committee;
- (d) In the applicable election cycle, no political party shall contribute to any candidate committee more than twenty percent of the applicable spending limit set forth in section 4 of this article.
- (e) Any unexpended campaign contributions retained by a candidate committee for use in a subsequent election cycle shall be counted and reported as contributions from a political party in any subsequent election for purposes of paragraph (d) of this subsection (3);
- (4)(a) It shall be unlawful for a corporation or labor organization to make contributions to a candidate committee or a political party, and to make expenditures expressly advocating the election or defeat of a candidate; except that a corporation or labor organization may establish a political committee or small

donor committee which may accept contributions or dues from employees, officeholders, shareholders, or members.

Amendment 27: C	Campaign
Finance	
39	

- (b) The prohibition contained in paragraph (a) of this subsection (4) shall not apply to a corporation that:
 - (I) is formed for the purpose of promoting political ideas and cannot engage in business activities; and
 - (II) has no shareholders or other persons with a claim on its assets or income; and
- (III) was not established by and does not accept contributions from business corporations or labor organizations.
- (5) No political committee shall accept aggregate contributions or pro-rata dues from any person in excess of five hundred dollars per house of representatives election cycle.
- (6) No candidate's candidate committee shall accept contributions from, or make contributions to, another candidate committee, including any candidate committee, or equivalent entity, established under federal law.
 - (7) No person shall act as a conduit for a contribution to a candidate committee.
- (8) Notwithstanding any other section of this article to the contrary, a candidate's candidate committee may receive a loan from a financial institution organized under state or federal law if the loan bears the usual and customary interest rate, is made on a basis that assures repayment, is evidenced by a written instrument, and is subject to a due date or amortization schedule. The contribution limits described in this section shall not apply to a loan as described in this subsection (8).
- (9) All contributions received by a candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor committee, or political party shall be deposited in a financial institution in a separate account whose title shall include the name of the committee or political party. All records pertaining to such accounts shall be maintained by the committee or political party for one-hundred eighty days following any general election in which the committee or party received contributions unless a complaint is filed, in which case they shall be maintained until final disposition of the complaint and any consequent litigation. Such records shall be subject to inspection at any hearing held pursuant to this article.
- (10) No candidate committee, political committee, small donor committee, issue committee, or political party shall accept a contribution, or make an expenditure, in currency or coin exceeding one hundred dollars.
- (11) No person shall make a contribution to a candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor committee, or political party with the expectation that some or all of the amounts of such contribution will be reimbursed by another person. No person shall be reimbursed for a contribution made to any candidate committee, issue committee, political committee, small donor

0 <i>A</i>	m
ndment 27: Campaign Finance	

committee, or political party, nor shall any person make such reimbursement except as provided in subsection (8) of this section.

- (12) No candidate committee, political committee, small donor committee, or political party shall knowingly accept contributions from:
 - (a) any natural person who is not a citizen of the united states;
 - (b) a foreign government; or
- (c) any foreign corporation that does not have the authority to transact business in this state pursuant to article 115 of title 7, C.R.S., or any successor section.
 - (13) Each limit on contributions described in subsections (1), (2), (3)(a), (3)(b) and (5) of this section,

and subsection (14) of section 2, shall be adjusted by an amount based upon the percentage change over a four year period in the United States bureau of labor statistics consumer price index for Denver-Boulder-Greeley, all items, all consumers, or its successor index, rounded to the nearest lowest twenty-five dollars. The first adjustment shall be done in the first quarter of 2007 and then every four years thereafter. The secretary of state shall calculate such an adjustment in each limit and specify the limits in rules promulgated in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S., or any successor section.

Section 4. Voluntary campaign spending limits. (1) Candidates may certify to the secretary of state that the candidate's candidate committee shall not exceed the following spending limits for the applicable election cycle:

- (a) two and one-half million dollars combined for a candidate for governor and governor and lieutenant governor as joint candidates under 1-1-104, C.R.S., or any successor section;
 - (b) five hundred thousand dollars for a candidate for secretary of state, attorney general, or treasurer;
 - (c) ninety thousand dollars for a candidate for the state senate;
- (d) sixty-five thousand dollars for a candidate for the state house of representatives, state board of education, regent of the university of Colorado, or district attorney.
- (2) Candidates accepting the campaign spending limits set forth above shall also agree that their personal contributions to their own campaign shall be counted as political party contributions and subject to the aggregate limit on such contributions set forth in section 3 of this article.
- (3) Each candidate who chooses to accept the applicable voluntary spending limit shall file a statement to that effect with the secretary of state at the time that the candidate files a candidate affidavit as currently set forth in section 1-45-110(1), C.R.S., or any successor section. Acceptance of the applicable voluntary spending

Amendment 27:	Campaign		
Finance		 	
41			

limit shall be irrevocable except as set forth in subsection (4) of this section and shall subject the candidate to the penalties set forth in section 10 of this article for exceeding the limit.

- (4) If a candidate accepts the applicable spending limit and another candidate for the same office refuses to accept the spending limit, the accepting candidate shall have ten days in which to withdraw acceptance. The accepting candidate shall have this option of withdrawing acceptance after each additional non-accepting candidate for the same office enters the race.
- (5) The applicable contribution limits set forth in section 3 of this article shall double for any candidate who has accepted the applicable voluntary spending limit if:
 - (a) another candidate in the race for the same office has not accepted the voluntary spending limit; and
- (b) the non-accepting candidate has raised more than ten percent of the applicable voluntary spending limit.
- (6) Only those candidates who have agreed to abide by the applicable voluntary spending limit may advertise their compliance. All other candidates are prohibited from advertising, or in any way implying, their acceptance of voluntary spending limits.
- (7) Each spending limit described in subsection (1) of this section shall be adjusted by an amount based upon the percentage change over a four year period in the united states bureau of labor statistics consumer price index for Denver-Boulder-Greeley, all items, all consumers, or its successor index, rounded to the nearest lowest twenty-five dollars. The first adjustment shall be done in the first quarter of 2007 and then every four years thereafter. The secretary of state shall calculate such an adjustment in each limit and specify the limits in rules promulgated in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S., or any successor section.

Section 5. Independent expenditures. (1) Any person making an independent expenditure in excess of one thousand dollars per calendar year shall deliver notice in writing to the secretary of state of such

independent expenditure, as well as the amount of such expenditure, and a detailed description of the use of such independent expenditure. The notice shall specifically state the name of the candidate whom the independent expenditure is intended to support or oppose. Each independent expenditure in excess of one-thousand dollars shall require the delivery of a new notice. Any person making an independent expenditure within thirty days of a primary or general election shall deliver such notice within forty-eight hours after obligating funds for such expenditure.

(2) Any person making an independent expenditure in excess of one thousand dollars shall disclose, in the communication produced by the expenditure, the name of the person making the expenditure and the specific statement that the advertisement of material is not

42	A
mendment 27: Campaign Financ	

authorized by any candidate. Such disclosure shall be prominently featured in the communication.

- (3) Expenditures by any person on behalf of a candidate for public office that are coordinated with or controlled by the candidate or the candidate's agent, or political party shall be considered a contribution to the candidate's candidate committee, or the political party, respectively.
- (4) This section 5 applies only to independent expenditures made for the purpose of expressly advocating the defeat or election of any candidate.

Section 6. Electioneering communications. (1) Any person who expends one thousand dollars or more per calendar year on electioneering communications shall submit reports to the secretary of state in accordance with the schedule currently set forth in 1-45-108 (2), C.R.S., or any successor section. Such reports shall include spending on such electioneering communications, and the name, and address, of any person that contributes more than two hundred and fifty dollars per year to such person described in this section for an electioneering communication. In the case where the person is a natural person, such reports shall also include the occupation and employer of such natural person. The last such report shall be filed thirty days after the applicable election.

(2) Notwithstanding any section to the contrary, it shall be unlawful for a corporation or labor organization to provide funding for an electioneering communication; except that any political committee or small donor committee established by such corporation or labor organization may provide funding for an electioneering communication.

Section 7. Disclosure. The disclosure requirements relevant to candidate committees, political committees, issue committees, and political parties, that are currently set forth in section 1-45-108, C.R.S., or any successor section, shall be extended to include small donor committees. The disclosure requirements of section 1-45-108, C.R.S., or any successor section, shall be extended to require disclosure of the occupation and employer of each person who has made a contribution of one hundred dollars or more to a candidate committee, political committee, issue committee, or political party. For purposes of this section and 1-45-108, C.R.S., or any successor section, a political party shall be treated as separate entities at the state, county, district, and local levels.

Section 8. Filing - where to file - timeliness. The secretary of state shall promulgate rules relating to filing in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S., or any successor section. The rules promulgated

Amendment 27: Campaign
inance
43

Section 9. Duties of the secretary of state - enforcement. (1) The secretary of state shall:

- (a) prepare forms and instructions to assist candidates and the public in complying with the reporting requirements of this article and make such forms and instructions available to the public, municipal clerks, and county clerk and recorders free of charge;
- (b) promulgate such rules, in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S., or any successor section, as may be necessary to administer and enforce any provision of this article;
- (c) prepare forms for candidates to declare their voluntary acceptance of the campaign spending limits set forth in section 4 of this article. Such forms shall include an acknowledgment that the candidate voluntarily accepts the applicable spending limit and that the candidate swears to abide by those spending limits. These forms shall be signed by the candidate under oath, notarized, filed with the secretary of state, and available to the public upon request;
 - (c) maintain a filing and indexing system consistent with the purposes of this article;
- (e) make the reports and statements filed with the secretary of state's office available immediately for public inspection and copying. The secretary of state may charge a reasonable fee for providing copies of reports. No information copied from such reports shall be sold or used by any person for the purpose of soliciting contributions or for any commercial purpose;
- (f) refer any complaints filed against any candidate for the office of secretary of state to the attorney general. Any administrative law judge employed pursuant to this section shall be appointed pursuant to part 10 of article 30 of title 24, C.R.S., or any successor section. Any hearing conducted by an administrative law judge employed pursuant to subsection (2) of this section shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of section 24-4-105, C.R.S., or any successor section.
- (2) (a) Any person who believes that a violation of section 3, section 4, section 5, section 6, section 7, or section 9 (1) (e), of this article, or of sections 1-45-108, 1-45-114, 1-45-115, or 1-45-117 C.R.S., or any successor sections, has occurred may file a written complaint with the secretary of state no later than one hundred eighty days after the date of the alleged violation. The secretary of state shall refer the complaint to an administrative law judge within three days of the filing of the complaint. The administrative law judge shall hold a hearing within fifteen days of the referral of the complaint, and shall render a decision within fifteen days of the hearing. The defendant shall be granted an extension of up to thirty days upon defendant's motion, or longer upon a showing of good cause. If the

44	Am
endment 27: Campaign Finance	

administrative law judge determines that such violation has occurred, such decision shall include any appropriate order, sanction, or relief authorized by this article. The decision of the administrative law judge shall be final and subject to review by the court of appeals, pursuant to section 24-4-106 (11), C.R.S., or any successor section. The secretary of state and the administrative law judge are not necessary parties to the review. The decision maybe enforced by the secretary of state, or, if the secretary of state does not file an enforcement action within thirty days of the decision, in a private cause of action by the person filing the complaint. Any private action brought under this section shall be brought within one year of the date of the violation in state district court. The prevailing party in a private enforcement action shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys fees and costs.

- (b) The attorney general shall investigate complaints made against any candidate for the office of secretary of state using the same procedures set forth in paragraph (a) of this subsection (2). Complainant shall have the same private right of action as under paragraph (a) of this subsection (2).
- (c) A subpoena issued by an administrative law judge requiring the production of documents by an issue committee shall be limited to documents pertaining to contributions to, or expenditures from, the committee's separate account established pursuant to section 3(9) of this article to support or oppose a ballot issue or ballot question. A subpoena shall not be limited in this manner where such issue committee fails to form a separate account through which a ballot issue or ballot question is supported or opposed.

Section 10. Sanctions. (1) Any person who violates any provision of this article relating to contribution

or voluntary spending limits shall be subject to a civil penalty of at least double and up to five times the amount contributed, received, or spent in violation of the applicable provision of this article. Candidates shall be personally liable for penalties imposed upon the candidate's committee.

(2) (a) The appropriate officer shall impose a penalty of fifty dollars per day for each day that a statement or other information required to be filed pursuant to section 5, section 6, or section 7 of this article, or sections 1-45-108, 1-45-109 or 1-45-110, C.R.S., or any successor sections, is not filed by the close of business on the day due. Upon imposition of a penalty pursuant to this subsection (2), the appropriate officer shall send the person upon whom the penalty is being imposed proper notification by certified mail of the imposition of the penalty. If an electronic mail address is on file with the secretary of state, the secretary of state shall also provide such notification by electronic mail. Revenues collected from fees and penalties

Amendment 27:	Campaign
Finance	
45	

assessed by the secretary of state or revenues collected in the form of payment of the secretary of state's attorney fees and costs pursuant to this article shall be deposited in the department of state cash fund created in section 24-21-104 (3), C.R.S., or any successor section.

- (b) (i) Any person required to file a report with the secretary of state and upon whom a penalty has been imposed pursuant to this subsection (2) may appeal such penalty by filing a written appeal with the secretary of state no later than thirty days after the date on which notification of the imposition of the penalty was mailed to such person's last known address in accordance with paragraph (a) of this subsection (2). Except as provided in paragraph (c) of this subsection (2), the secretary shall refer the appeal to an administrative law judge. Any hearing conducted by an administrative law judge pursuant to this subsection (2) shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of section 24-4-105, C.R.S., or any successor section. The administrative law judge shall set aside or reduce the penalty upon a showing of good cause, and the person filing the appeal shall bear the burden of proof. The decision of the administrative law judge shall be final and subject to review by the court of appeals pursuant to section 24-4-106 (11), C.R.S., or any successor section.
- (II) If the administrative law judge finds that the filing of an appeal brought pursuant to subparagraph (I) of this paragraph (b) was frivolous, groundless, or vexatious, the administrative law judge shall order the person filing the appeal to pay reasonable attorney fees and costs of the secretary of state in connection with such proceeding.
- (c) Upon receipt by the secretary of state of an appeal pursuant to paragraph (b) of this subsection (2), the secretary shall set aside or reduce the penalty upon a showing of good cause.
- (d) Any unpaid debt owing to the state resulting from a penalty imposed pursuant to this subsection (2) shall be collected by the state in accordance with the requirements of section 24-30-202.4, C.R.S., or any successor section.
- (3) Failure to comply with the provisions of this article shall have no effect on the validity of any election.
- **Section 11. Conflicting provisions declared inapplicable.** Any provisions in the statutes of this state in conflict or inconsistent with this article are hereby declared to be inapplicable to the matters covered and provided for in this article.
- **Section 12. Repeal of conflicting statutory provisions.** Sections 1-45-103, 1-45-105.3, 1-45-107, 1-45-111, and 1-45-113 are repealed.
- **Section 13. APPLICABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE.** The provisions of this article shall take effect on December 6, 2002 and be applicable

46	A
mendment 27: Campaign Finance	

for all elections thereafter. Legislation may be enacted to facilitate its operations, but in no way limiting or restricting the provisions of this article or the powers herein granted.

Section 14. Severability. If any provision of this article or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the article which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this article are declared to be severable.

Amendment 28 Mail Ballot Elections

Ballot Title: An amendment to the Colorado Revised Statutes concerning the conduct of elections using mail-in ballots, and, in connection therewith, replacing existing statutory provisions relating to mail ballot elections with provisions governing "automatic absentee ballot elections"; requiring that, after January 1, 2005, any election held on the same day as any primary, general, congressional vacancy, special legislative, partisan officer recall, or other November coordinated election, be conducted as an automatic absentee ballot election; permitting other elections and elections held before January 1, 2005 to be conducted as automatic absentee ballot elections; requiring an election official who conducts an automatic absentee ballot election to submit a plan for the election to be approved by the secretary of state; specifying requirements for the delivery and return of ballots in an automatic absentee ballot election, including provisions for ballot drop-off sites, polling booth locations, and the issuance and return of replacement ballots; specifying requirements for ballot qualification in an automatic absentee ballot election, including the verification of voters' signatures and the counting of such ballots; specifying that interference with the delivery of a ballot in an automatic absentee ballot election to the designated election official is an election offense; and increasing penalties for specified election offenses.

Text of Proposal:

Be it Enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:

SECTION 1. Article 7.5 of title 1, Colorado Revised Statutes, is REPEALED AND REENACTED, WITH AMENDMENTS, to read:

Amendment 28:	Mail Ballot
Elections	
47	

- **1-7.5-101. Short title.** This article shall be known and may be cited as the "Automatic Absentee Ballot Election Act".
- **1-7.5-102. Legislative declaration.** The people of the state of Colorado hereby find, determine, and declare that self-government by election is more legitimate and better accepted as voter participation increases. The people further find, determine, and declare that mail ballot elections such as the automatic absentee ballot elections to be conducted under this article are cost-efficient and have not resulted in increased fraud. By enacting this article, the people conclude that it is appropriate to provide for automatic absentee ballot elections under the conditions set forth in this article.

- 1-7.5-103. Definitions. As used in this article, unless the context otherwise requires:
- (1) "Automatic absentee ballot election" means an election conducted pursuant to this article.
- (2) "Designated election official" shall have the meaning set forth in section 1-1-104(8), and shall include all designees of the designated election official. In a coordinated election and as provided by intergovernmental agreement, the county clerk and recorder shall be considered the designated election official for purposes of this article.
- (3) "Election" means any election under the "Uniform Election Code of 1992" or the "Colorado Municipal Election Code of 1965", article 10 of title 31, C.R.S.
- (4) "Election day" means the date either established by law or determined by the governing body of the political subdivision conducting the election to be the final day on which all ballots are determined to be due, and the date from which all other dates in this article are set.
- (5) "Political subdivision" means a governing subdivision of the state and includes counties, municipalities, school districts, and special districts.
- (6) "Polling booth location" means a location where eligible electors may cast their votes in a private polling booth on election day.
- (7) "Return verification envelope" means the envelope provided in the absentee ballot packet for the return of the ballot.
- (8) "Secrecy envelope" means the sealable envelope provided in the absentee ballot packet to conceal and maintain the confidentiality of the ballot.
- (9) "Secure drop-off site" means a secure, staffed location at which eligible electors may deposit their absentee ballots into a plainly-marked, locked and sealed ballot box used solely for the

48		Ame
	Mail Ballot Elections	

purpose of returning absentee ballots to the designated election official.

- **1-7.5-104.** Elections required or eligible to be conducted by automatic absentee ballot. (1) Any election conducted after January 1, 2005 in conjunction with or on the same day as a primary election, presidential primary election, congressional vacancy election, special legislative election, partisan officer recall election, general election, or other November coordinated election shall be conducted by automatic absentee ballot pursuant to this article.
- (2) The governing body of any political subdivision conducting an election prior to January 1, 2005 or an election which is otherwise not described in subsection (1) may decide that the election shall be conducted by automatic absentee ballot.
- (3) Automatic absentee ballot elections shall be conducted as provided in this article and any other applicable law or rules governing elections. In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this article and any other applicable law, the provisions of this article shall govern.
- **1-7.5-105.** Secretary of state and designated election official duties and powers. (1) The secretary of state shall supervise automatic absentee ballot elections and promulgate such rules as are reasonable and necessary to implement this act and to provide for the efficient, uniform, and secure conduct of elections conducted under this act. Any rules promulgated by the secretary of state hereunder shall be promulgated in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S.
- (2) The designated election official shall, in accordance with rules promulgated by the secretary of state, supervise the production, distribution, handling, counting, and security of the ballots, and the survey of returns, and shall take the necessary steps to protect the confidentiality of the ballots cast and the integrity of the election.
- **1-7.5-106.** Submission of proposed plan to secretary of state. (1) No later than seventy-five days before the automatic absentee ballot election, the designated election official shall give notice of the election to the secretary of state and the clerk and recorder of the county in which the election is to be held. If the election requires that eligible electors own taxable property, notice shall also be given to the

county assessor of the county in which the election is to be held.

(2) The notification to the secretary of state shall include a proposed plan for conducting the automatic absentee ballot election. A designated election official responsible for the conduct of a coordinated election may submit a single plan on behalf of the

Amendment 28:	Mail Ballot
Elections	
49	

political subdivisions involved in the coordinated election. The plan shall be based on a standard plan format prescribed by the secretary of state that sets forth best practices and acceptable alternative practices with respect to all stages of the conduct of automatic absentee ballot elections. Proposed plans shall include all information required by rules, including but not limited to the following:

- (a) A description of procedures to be used to ensure ballot confidentiality and security at all stages of the process;
- (b) A description of procedures to be used to update outdated registration addresses prior to the mailing of ballots, which shall include but is not limited to an annual mailing of a voter confirmation card consistent with the requirements of paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 1-2-605 to each eligible elector whose registration record has been marked "inactive" for a reason other than that prior mail addressed to the eligible elector was returned as undeliverable;
- (c) A description of procedures for coordinating ballot delivery and return with the United States postal service:
- (d) Identification of secure drop-off site locations for eligible electors wishing to deposit their ballots at such sites, and a description of the procedures to be used to ensure the security of ballots deposited at such sites:
- (e) Identification of polling booth locations to be maintained pursuant to section 1-7.5-111 (4) and the precincts to be assigned to each polling booth location, and a description of the procedures to be used for voting at polling booth locations;
- (f) A description of the procedures and locations to be used for issuing replacement ballots and ballots for eligible electors who did not receive mailed ballots;
 - (g) Whether return verification envelopes will conceal elector signatures:
- (h) A description of the procedures to be used to qualify returned ballots for counting, including the procedures to be used for verifying elector signatures;
- (i) A description of the procedures to be followed for provisional, challenged, defective, and rejected ballots:
- (j) A description of the measures to be taken to provide assistance to eligible electors who request assistance in completing their ballots;
- (k) A description of procedures to be used to reconcile ballots issued, ballots received, defective ballots, and replacement ballots, including a description of procedures to be used to prevent electors from voting more than once; and
- (I) A description of public outreach efforts to be made for the purpose of educating eligible electors concerning the means by which ballots may be received and cast in the election, and to otherwise maximize voter participation in the election.

50		Ame
ndment 28:	: Mail Ballot Elections	

(3)(a) Within fifteen days after receiving the proposed plan, the secretary of state shall provide written notice of approval or disapproval of the plan and the reasons therefor to the designated election official and to each political subdivision involved in the election. The secretary of state shall approve all plans that conform to the requirements of this article and the rules promulgated hereunder, and such approval

shall not be unreasonably withheld.

- (b) In the case of a plan that is rejected for failure to conform to the requirements of this article and the rules promulgated hereunder, the secretary of state shall have the authority, after consultation with the designated election official, to make reasonable binding changes to the plan to bring it into conformity with state law.
- **1-7.5-107. Preparation and submission of list of electors.** The preparation and submission of the list of registered electors in an automatic absentee ballot election shall be handled as provided in sections 1-5-301 to 1-5-304 and in rules promulgated by the secretary of state.
- **1-7.5-108.** Public notice of automatic absentee ballot election. (1) No later than twenty-five days before election day, the designated election official shall provide notice by publication of the election. The notice shall state the relevant items set forth in paragraphs (a) to (d) of subsection (1) of section 1-5-205.
- (2) The notice required to be given by this subsection (1) shall be in lieu of the notice requirements set forth in section 1-5-205 (1) and section 31-10-501 (1), C.R.S.
- **1-7.5-109. Delivery of absentee ballots.** (1)(a) No sooner than twenty-five days and no later than eighteen days before election day, the designated election official shall mail an absentee ballot packet to each active registered elector. In the case of primary elections, the absentee ballot packet shall be mailed only to each active registered elector who has declared a major political party affiliation.
- (b) Absentee ballot packets shall be mailed no later than thirty days before election day to registered electors residing at locations other than the addresses contained in their registration records who have timely filed an application for an absentee ballot pursuant to section 1-8-104. The obligations of the designated election official under subsection (1) of section 1-8-111 with respect to a registered elector who has timely filed an application for delivery of an absentee ballot to his or her residence of record pursuant to section 1-8-104 shall be fulfilled by delivery of an absentee ballot packet to such

Amendment 28:	Mail Ballot
Elections	
51	

elector pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section, and the designated election official shall ensure that duplicate ballots are not sent to such electors. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this article, the provisions of sections 1-8-103, 1-8-116, and 1-8-117 shall apply to any eligible electors covered by the federal "Uniformed And Overseas Citizens Absentee Voting Act", 42 U.S.C. sec. 1973ff et seq.

- (c) The absentee ballot packet shall include an absentee ballot, instructions for completing and returning the ballot, a secrecy envelope, and a return verification envelope. In addition to any other information required to be contained in the absentee ballot packet, the packet shall also include sufficient information to enable the eligible elector to know the amount of postage required for returning the ballot by mail in the return verification envelope. No elector information shall be delivered in the form of a sample ballot.
- (d) The envelope containing the absentee ballot packet shall be marked "DO NOT FORWARD. RETURN SERVICE REQUESTED", or any other similar statement providing that the envelope is not forwardable that is in accordance with United States Postal Service regulations, and shall include a warning substantially in the following form:

"WARNING:

Any person who, by use of force or other means, unduly influences an eligible elector to vote in any particular manner or to refrain from voting, or who falsely makes, alters, forges, or counterfeits any absentee ballot before or after it has been cast, or who destroys, defaces, mutilates, or tampers with a ballot, or who interferes with the delivery of a ballot to the designated election official is subject, upon conviction and for each offense, to imprisonment for up to eighteen months, or to a fine of up to \$10,000

or l	both	."
01	00111	

(e) The return verification envelope shall have on it clearly marked spaces for the eligible elector to print his or her name, address, and the current date, and shall also have printed on it a self-affirmation substantially in the following form:

"I state under penalty of perjury that I am eligible to vote in this election; that my name and address are as shown on this envelope; and that I have not and will not cast any vote in this election except by the enclosed ballot; and that my ballot is enclosed in accord with the provisions of the "Uniform Election Code of 1992". I understand that my signature will be verified against current registration records.

	Date	Signature"	
52			Amend
nent 28: Mail Ballot Elect			

- (f) The signing of the self-affirmation on the return verification envelope shall constitute an affirmation by the voter, under penalty of perjury, that the facts stated on the self-affirmation are true.
- (g) The secrecy envelope and the ballot shall not contain any markings that could be used to determine the identity of the eligible elector.
- (2) No sooner than twenty-five days prior to election day, nor later than 7 p.m. on election day, absentee ballots shall be made available at one or more locations authorized by the designated election official for eligible electors who are authorized to vote pursuant to applicable law but who were not sent an absentee ballot pursuant to subparagraph 1(a) of this section. The procedures for issuing original absentee ballots to such electors shall be the same as the procedures for issuing replacement ballots pursuant to section 1-7.5-110.
- (3) No later than ten days prior to election day, the designated election official shall provide notice by publication or otherwise publicize that ballots were previously mailed to active eligible electors pursuant to this section. The notice or public statement shall state the manner in which an eligible elector who did not receive a ballot by mail may apply for and receive a ballot prior to the election.
- **1-7.5-110. Replacement ballots.** (1) An eligible elector may obtain a replacement ballot if the ballot was destroyed, spoiled, lost, or not received by the eligible elector. In order to obtain a ballot in such cases, the eligible elector must sign a statement specifying the reason for requesting the ballot and affirming under penalty or perjury that the elector has not yet voted and does not intend to vote except by voting the replacement ballot. In the event that an elector did not receive a ballot in a primary election because the elector was an unaffiliated elector at the time the ballots were mailed, the elector may obtain a ballot by declaring an affiliation as part of the statement. The statement must be received at the designated election official's office or other site authorized by the designated election official for the issuance of ballots no later than 7 p.m. on election day.
- (2) Upon receipt of a statement requesting a replacement ballot, the designated election official may issue a replacement ballot personally to the eligible elector at the designated election official's office or other site authorized by the designated election official for the issuance of ballots, or may, if requested by the eligible elector, mail the replacement ballot to the eligible elector at the address provided in the statement. The designated election official may, in his or her discretion, provide a request form together with the replacement ballot, provided that the signed request form must be

Amendment 28: Mail Ballot	
Elections	
53	

returned by the eligible elector before the elector's ballot will be eligible for counting.

(3) The designated election official shall keep a record of each ballot issued in accordance with this section together with a list of each ballot delivered by mail or obtained pursuant to section 1-7.5-109(2). Not withstanding the provisions of section 1-7.5-114(2), returned replacement ballots shall be set aside and not counted until after 7 p.m. on election day, unless the ballot tracking system used by the

designated election official automatically rejects original absentee ballots returned by an eligible elector to whom a replacement absentee ballot has been issued, in which case returned replacement ballots may be counted as provided in section 1-7.5-114(2). If an original absentee ballot is returned after the issuance of a replacement ballot to the same eligible elector, the original ballot shall be rejected. If both the original ballot and the replacement ballot are returned, the matter shall be forwarded to the attorney general and the district attorney for investigation, and, where appropriate, prosecution.

- **1-7.5-111. Voting and return of ballot.** (1) Upon receipt of a ballot, an eligible elector who intends to cast a vote shall comply with the instructions provided for marking the ballot, placing it in the secrecy envelope, signing and completing the return verification envelope, and returning the ballot.
- (2) The eligible elector may return the marked ballot in the return verification envelope to the designated election official in any of the following ways:
- (a) Placing the completed and sealed ballot, or directing another person who is known to the elector or who is a representative of the designated election official to place it, in the United States mail, with postage paid by the elector;
- (b) Delivering the completed and sealed ballot, or directing another person who is known to the elector or who is a representative of the designated election official to deliver it, to a secure drop-off site;
- (c) By completing and sealing the ballot at a polling booth location and returning it to an election official at the polling booth location.
- (3)(a) Secure drop-off sites shall be located within the jurisdiction holding the election, unless a waiver for a particular location outside the jurisdiction is granted by the secretary of state. Secure drop-off sites shall be open for ballot deposit during the hours specified by the designated election official no later than ten days before the election, and shall remain open each day thereafter until 7 p.m. on election day.
- (b) At least two election judges shall supervise each secure drop-off site; provided, however, that the designated election official may

54		 Ameno
	Mail Ballot Elections	

appoint one such election judge to supervise a secure drop-off site if there are an insufficient number of election judges for that election, or if the secure drop-off site is located in a secure building controlled by a governmental entity. Ballot boxes at secure drop-off sites shall be locked and sealed each night with a numbered seal under the supervision of the election judges, and shall be transferred daily to the receiving judges for qualification pursuant to section 1-7.5-113.

- (4)(a) In elections involving partisan candidates held prior to January 1, 2010, the designated election official shall maintain polling booth locations on election day at each public high school located and operating within the jurisdiction, except those schools designated as charter or alternative schools by the applicable school district; at the office of the designated election official; and at any other location designated as a polling booth location by the designated election official. The designated election official shall assign each precinct to a polling booth location. If a public high school is located within one mile of the designated election official's office, or if there is no public high school located within the jurisdiction, the designated election official shall select an alternative site to serve as a polling booth location.
- (b) In addition to any other location designated by the designated election official for the issuance of ballots, original and replacement absentee ballots shall be made available on election day at each polling booth location for eligible electors served by that location who were not previously issued a ballot or who failed to bring a previously issued ballot to the polling booth location. Issuance of original and replacement absentee ballots at polling booth locations are subject to the requirements of section 1-7.5-109 and section 1-7.5-110. If the election judges at the polling booth location do not have access to a continuously updated database showing registration and ballot tracking information for electors served by that location, each original and replacement ballot issued and cast at the polling booth location shall be treated as a provisional ballot.
- (c) If the designated election official determines for a given election that less than five percent of eligible electors assigned to a high school polling booth location cast their ballots at that location, the designated

election official need not designate that high school as a polling booth location for subsequent elections.

- (d) For all elections held after January 1, 2010, and for all nonpartisan elections, the designated election official shall make at least one polling booth location available on election day.
- (e) The designated election official shall appoint no less than three election judges for each polling booth location in a partisan

Amendment 28: I	Wail Ballot
Elections	
55	

election, and no less than two election judges for each polling booth location in a nonpartisan election.

- (f) The provisions of part 2 of article 8 of this title shall not apply to elections conducted by automatic absentee ballot.
- (g) Ballots cast at polling booth locations must be in the form of the original absentee ballot or a replacement absentee ballot issued to the eligible elector.
- (5) To be eligible for counting, all ballots must be received at a secure drop-off site, polling booth location, or the office of the designated election official by 7 p.m. election day. However, any eligible elector waiting in line at a secure drop-off site or polling booth location at or before 7 p.m. on election day who has not yet voted shall be entitled to vote.
- (6) Absentee ballots received after 7 p.m. on the day of the election but postmarked on or before the day of the election shall remain sealed and uncounted, but the elector's registration record shall not be marked inactive or canceled for failure to vote in a general election, and the elector shall be deemed an active voter.
- **1-7.5-112. Voting at group facilities.** The delivery and return of absentee ballots issued to voters residing at group facilities shall be handled in the same manner as provided in section 1-8-112.
- **1-7.5-113.** Qualification of ballots by election judges. (1) The designated election official shall appoint at least three election judges to receive and qualify ballots in an automatic absentee ballot election. Each major political party shall be represented by at least one judge.
- (2) One or more election judges shall, on a daily basis, count the ballots received, batch them, date-stamp them, and record the number of ballots received.
- (3) (a) Before a returned ballot is eligible for counting, an election judge shall first qualify the ballot in the presence of at least one other receiving judge from a different major political party. Qualification of ballots for counting may begin upon receipt by the judges, although ballots may not be counted until ten days before the election as provided in section 1-7.5-114(2). A ballot shall be qualified by the election judge only if:
 - (I) It is returned in the return verification envelope;
- (II) A comparison between the printed name and address on the return verification envelope and the registration records shows that the person completing the ballot was in fact eligible to vote in the election; (III) The self-affirmation on the envelope is complete and signed by the eligible elector to whom the ballot was issued, as determined by comparing the signature on the self-affirmation to the signature of

56	men
dment 28: Mail Ballot Elections	

the eligible elector in the registration records, except as provided in subsection (4) of this section; and

- (IV) The election judge has determined that the eligible elector submitting the ballot has not previously voted in the election.
- (a.1) If, upon comparing the signature of the eligible elector on the self-affirmation with the signature of the eligible elector on file with the county clerk and recorder, the election judge determines that the two

signatures do not appear to match, the signatures shall be simultaneously reviewed and compared by two other election judges, neither of whom may have the same political affiliation. After reviewing and comparing the signatures, if the two election judges determine that the signatures do not appear to match, and the election judges have cause to believe that election law may have been violated, copies of the eligible elector's signature on the self-affirmation and on file with the county clerk and recorder shall be made. The copies of the signatures shall be forwarded to the district attorney for investigation. If the judges determine that the signatures do match, they shall follow the procedures set forth in subsection (5) of this section.

- (b) The secretary of state shall promulgate rules to ensure uniform standards for the qualification of ballots, including but not limited to the circumstances under which the designated election official or his or her designee shall investigate questions concerning the qualification of ballots, and the qualification of ballots for persons who are unable by reason of disability to sign the self-affirmation on the return verification envelope.
- (4)(a) In an election conducted prior to January 1, 2005 under this article that does not involve partisan candidates and is not held in conjunction with, or on the same day as, a primary or congressional vacancy election, the designated election official may petition the secretary of state for a waiver from the requirements of subparagraph (III) of paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of this section concerning individual signature verification. The secretary of state shall promulgate rules governing the conditions under which waivers may be granted; provided that such waivers shall be granted only if the petitioning jurisdiction establishes that other safeguards in place during the election will prevent election fraud.
- (b) After January 1, 2005, all elector signatures in all elections conducted under this article must be individually verified pursuant to subparagraph (III) of paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of this section.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in an election conducted prior to January 1, 2007 by a municipality or a special district, the designated election official for the municipality or special district may petition the secretary of state for a waiver from the requirements of subparagraph (III) of paragraph (a) of subsection (3)

Amendment 28:	Mail Ballot		
Elections		 	
.57			

of this section concerning individual signature verification. after January 1, 2007, all elector signatures in all elections conducted under this article by municipalities and special districts must be individually verified pursuant to subparagraph (III) of paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of this section.

- (5) If the ballot so qualifies and is otherwise valid, the election judge shall record in the poll book that the eligible elector cast a ballot and give the secrecy envelope to a second election judge who is unaware of the identity of the eligible elector. The second election judge shall then open the secrecy envelope and prepare the ballot for counting. If the ballot is not to be counted immediately, it shall be stored in a secure location.
- (6) If the election judge determines that a ballot does not meet the requirements of subsection (3) or subsection (4) or is otherwise invalid, the election judge shall mark the return verification envelope "rejected" and shall indicate on the envelope the reason for the rejection. The envelope shall be set aside, and the ballot shall not be counted. Rejected ballots shall be handled in the same manner as provided in section 1-8-310.
- **1-7.5-114.** Counting of ballots. (1) The designated election official shall appoint at least three judges to count ballots in an automatic absentee ballot election. Each major political party shall be represented by at least one judge. If one major political party comprises the majority of receiving election judges appointed by the designated election official, the other major political party shall comprise the majority of counting judges.
- (2) All ballots qualified by the receiving judges shall be counted as provided in this article and by rules promulgated by the secretary of state. Ballots shall be counted in the same manner provided by section 1-7-307 or section 1-7-507. Counting of ballots may begin ten days prior to the election and continue until

counting is completed.

- (3) The election official in charge of ballot counting shall take all precautions necessary to ensure the secrecy of the counting procedures, and no information concerning the count shall be released by the election officials or watchers until after 7 p.m. on election day. Release of information concerning the count in violation of this paragraph is punishable pursuant to section 1-13-718, C.R.S.
- **1-7.5-115. Watchers.** Any political party, candidate, or proponent or opponent of a ballot issue entitled to have watchers at polling places shall each have the right to have one watcher for each of the following election stages at each location where such activity takes place: preparation of absentee ballot packets; receipt of ballots from electors; qualification of ballots; and the counting of ballots.

8A	lme
dment 28: Mail Ballot Elections	

- **1-7.5-116. Write-in candidates.** Write-in candidates shall be allowed in automatic absentee ballot elections provided that the candidate has filed an affidavit of intent with the designated election official pursuant to section 1-4-1101. Ballots for write-in candidates are to be counted pursuant to section 1-7-114.
- **1-7.5-117. Challenges.** Votes cast pursuant to this article may be challenged pursuant to and in accordance with law. Any automatic absentee ballot election held pursuant to this article shall not be invalidated on the grounds that an eligible elector did not receive a ballot so long as the designated election official for the political subdivision conducting the election acted in good faith in complying with the provisions of this article or with rules promulgated by the secretary of state.
- **1-7.5-118.** Election judges in an automatic absentee ballot election. The designated election official may appoint as many election judges in an automatic absentee ballot election as is necessary to carry out the responsibilities of this article 7.5. Staff members of the designated election official's office may be appointed as election judges, provided that they meet the party affiliation requirements of section 1-6-109. Each person appointed as a judge in an automatic absentee ballot election who accepts the appointment shall file an acceptance as required by C.R.S. 1-6-106(2) and shall take the oath required by C.R.S. 1-6-114.
- **1-7.5-119. Directive to the general assembly.** The general assembly is hereby directed to make any conforming amendments required by the passage of this act or by passage of federal legislation affecting the implementation of this act.

SECTION 2. Section 1-13-112, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

1-13-112. Offenses relating to mail ballots cast in an automatic absentee ballot election. Any person, who by use of force or other means, unduly influences an elector to vote in any particular manner or to refrain from voting, or who falsely makes, alters, forges, or counterfeits any mail ballot in an automatic absentee ballot election conducted pursuant to article 7.5 of this title, before or after it the ballot has been cast, or who destroys, defaces, mutilates, or tampers with such a ballot, or who interferes with the delivery of a ballot to the designated election official, shall be punished by a fine of not more than five ten thousand dollars, or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than eighteen months, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

Amendment 28: Mail Ballot	
Elections	5
q	

SECTION 3. Section 1-13-803, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

1-13-803. Offenses related to absentee voting. Any election official or other person who knowingly violates any of the provisions of article 7.5 or 8 of this title relative to the casting of absentee voters' ballots or who aids or abets fraud in connection with any vote cast, or to be cast, or attempted to be cast by an absentee voter shall be punished, by a fine of not more than five ten thousand dollars or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than eighteen months, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

Amendment 29 Selecting Candidates for Primary Elections

Ballot Title: An amendment to the Colorado revised statutes concerning the use of petitions to provide candidate access to the primary election ballot, and, in connection therewith, requiring that all candidates for nomination at a primary election be placed on the primary election ballot by petition; eliminating the candidate designation and certification process from state, county, and district assemblies; specifying the signature requirements for nominating petitions for access to the primary election ballot; allowing a candidate to include a personal statement on his or her nominating petition; providing for examination of nominating petitions by the designated election official; and setting forth a procedure to protest the election official's decision regarding the sufficiency of nominating petitions.

Text of Proposal:

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:

SECTION 1. 1-1-104(1.3), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

SECTION 2. 1-2-222(3), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

1-1-104. Definitions. As used in this code, unless the context otherwise requires:

(1.3) "Assembly" means a meeting of delegates of a political party in even-numbered years, organized in accordance with the rules and regulations of the political party, held for the purpose of designating candidates for nominations at a primary election. held for the purpose of conducting party business other than business conducted at conventions.

60	Amendment 29
Selecting Candidates for Primaries	

1-2-222. Errors in recording of affiliation. (3) For the purposes of determining the eligibility of candidates for nomination in accordance with sections 1-4-601(4)(a) and 1-4-801(4) section 1-4-801(3), the eligibility of persons to vote at any precinct caucus, assembly, or convention in accordance with section 1-3-101, or the eligibility of persons to sign petitions in accordance with section 1-4-801(2), the date of declaration of the party affiliation of the elector shall be the date of the declaration which the elector alleges by affidavit to have been erroneously recorded or unlawfully changed or withdrawn.

SECTION 3. 1-4-102, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

1-4-102. Methods of placing names on primary ballot. All candidates for nominations to be made at any primary election shall be placed on the primary election ballot either by certificate of designation by assembly or by petition.

SECTION 4. 1-4-103, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

1-4-103. Order of names on primary ballot. Candidates designated and certified by assembly for a particular office shall be placed on the primary election ballot in the order of the vote received at the assembly. The candidate receiving the highest vote shall be placed first in order on the ballot, followed by the candidate receiving the next highest vote. To qualify for placement on the primary election ballot, a candidate must receive thirty percent or more of the votes of the assembly. The names of two or more candidates receiving an equal number of votes for designation by assembly shall be placed on the primary ballot in the order determined by lot in accordance with section 1-4-601(2). Candidates by petition for any particular office shall follow assembly candidates and shall be placed on the primary election ballot in an order established by lot.

SECTION 5. 1-4-801(1), (2), (4) and (5), Colorado Revised Statutes, are amended to read:

1-4-801. Designation of party candidates by petition. (1) Candidates for political party nominations to be made by primary election may shall be placed on the primary election ballot by petition. Every petition to nominate candidates for a primary election shall state the name of the office for which the person is a candidate and the candidate's name and address and shall designate in not more than three words the name of the political party which the candidate represents. No petition shall contain the name of more than one person for the same office. All petition

Amendment 29:	Selecting Candidates for	
Primaries	6	3 1

signatures shall meet the requirements of section 1-4-904, C.R.S., including affiliation requirements for signers of partisan petitions.

- (2) The signature requirements for the petition are as follows:
- (a) Every petition in the case of a candidate for any county office shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the county commissioner district or political subdivision for which the officer is to be elected. The petition shall require signers equal in number to twenty percent of the votes cast in the political subdivision at the contested or uncontested primary election for the political party's candidates for the office for which the petition is being circulated or, if there was no primary election, at the last preceding general election for which there was a candidate for the office. be signed by not less than:
 - (I) Fifty eligible electors in any county with a population of less than fifty thousand people; and
- (II) One hundred eligible electors in any county with a population greater than or equal to fifty thousand people.
- (b) Every petition in the case of a candidate for member of the general assembly , district attorney, or any district office greater than a county office shall be signed by eligible electors resident within the district for which the officer is to be elected. The petition shall require the lesser of one thousand signers or signers equal to thirty percent of the votes cast in the district at the contested or uncontested primary election for the political party's candidate for the office for which the petition is being circulated or, if there was no primary election, at the last preceding general election for which there was a candidate for the office. shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the state senatorial district or state house district for which the candidate is to be elected. The petition shall be signed by not less than:
 - (I) Three hundred eligible electors for any candidate for the state senate; and
 - (II) One hundred fifty eligible electors for any candidate for the state house of representatives.
 - (c)(I) Repealed.
- (II) On and after January 1, 1999, every petition in the case of a candidate for an office to be filled by vote of the electors of the entire state shall be signed by at least one thousand five hundred eligible electors in each congressional district.
 - (d) (Deleted by amendment, L. 93, p. 1405, § 29, effective July 1, 1993.)
- (e) Every petition in the case of a candidate for the regional transportation district board of directors shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within such district. The petition shall be signed by not less

than two hundred fifty eligible electors.

(f) Every petition in the case of a candidate for district attorney or any other district office other than the regional transportation district board of directors shall be signed by electors eligible to vote in the district or political subdivision for which the candidate is

62	Amendment 29
Selecting Candidates for Primaries	

to be elected. The petition shall be signed by not less than two hundred eligible electors.

- (g) Every petition in the case of a candidate for an at-large member of the state board of education and regent for the University of Colorado shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the state. The petition shall be signed by not less than five hundred eligible electors statewide.
- (h) Every petition in the case of a candidate for member of the state board of education for a congressional district and regent for the university of Colorado for a congressional district shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the congressional district. The petition shall be signed by not less than two hundred fifty eligible electors.
- (i) Every petition in the case of a candidate for governor shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the state. The petition shall be signed by not less than five thousand eligible electors statewide, and not less than two hundred fifty of the total number of valid signatures required shall be collected from eligible electors in each congressional district.
- (j) Every petition in the case of a candidate for secretary of state, attorney general, or state treasurer shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the state. The petition shall be signed by not less than two thousand five hundred eligible electors statewide, and not less than one hundred twenty-five of the total number of valid signatures required shall be collected from eligible electors in each congressional district.
- (k) Every petition in the case of a candidate for representative in congress shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the congressional district for which the candidate is to be elected. The petition shall be signed by not less than one thousand eligible electors.
- (I) Every petition in the case of a candidate for United States senator shall be signed by electors eligible to vote within the state. The petition shall be signed by not less than five thousand eligible electors statewide, and not less than two hundred fifty of the total number of valid signatures required shall be collected from eligible electors in each congressional district.
- (4) No person who attempted and failed to receive a least ten percent of the votes for the nomination of a political party assembly for a particular office shall be placed in nomination by petition on behalf of the political party for the same office.
- (5) Party candidate petitions shall not be circulated nor any signatures be obtained prior to the first Monday in April November fifteenth of the year preceding the election. Petitions shall be filed no sooner than March 1 preceding the primary election and no later than seventy ninety-five days before the primary election.

Amendment 29: Selecting Candidates for	
Primaries	63

SECTION 6. 1-4-902, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SUBSECTION to read:

1-4-902. Form of petition. (4) Directly following the statement required by subsection (3) of this section, the petition may but is not required to contain a personal statement provided by the candidate concerning his or her candidacy. The personal statement shall not exceed one hundred words, and the typeface shall not be larger than the typeface used for the other statements required by this section. The substantive content of the personal statement shall not be a basis for disapproval of the form of the

petition.

SECTION 7. 1-4-908 (1) and (3), Colorado Revised Statutes, are amended, and the said 1-4-908 is further amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SUBSECTION, to read:

- 1-4-908. Verification of petition and official statement. (1) Upon filing, the designated election official for the political subdivision shall review all petition information and verify the information against the registration records, and, where applicable, the county assessor's records. The secretary of state shall establish guidelines for verifying petition entries. Upon filing, the designated election official for the political subdivision shall examine the petition and accompanying papers. Each section of a petition to which there is attached an affidavit of the elector who circulated the petition that each signature thereon is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be and that to the best of the knowledge and belief of the affiant each of the persons signing the petition was at the time of signing a registered elector shall be prima facie evidence that the signatures are genuine and true, that the petitions were circulated in accordance with the provisions of this article, and that the form of the petition is in accordance with the provisions of this article, and that the form of the petition is in accordance with this article. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the designated election official shall review petitions and shall strike petition lines or petition sections for the following reasons:
 - (a) The petition is not in the proper form;
- (b) The petition does not contain a sufficient number of signatures as required by law, or the required geographic dispersal of signatures, if applicable, has not been met; provided, however, that the designated election official may but is not hereby required to investigate the validity of any signature or signatures, and if any signature is found to be invalid, that signature shall be disregarded in determining whether the petition contains a sufficient number of signatures and whether the required geographic dispersal of signatures, if applicable, has been met;
 - (c) The petition has been disassembled or tampered with;

64	Amendment 29:
Selecting Candidates for Primaries	

- (d) The petition is not accompanied by the affidavit of the circulator or the acceptance of the candidate, or such affidavit or acceptance contains material defects;
 - (e) The time within which the petition could have been filed has expired; or
 - (f) Any other failure to meet the requirements of this section with respect to nominating petitions.
- (2.5) The election official shall make copies of the petition publicly available within three days after filing. The election official may charge a reasonable fee for such copies.
- (3) After review, and in any event within seven days after filing of the petition, the official shall notify the candidate of the number of valid signatures and whether the petition appears to be sufficient or insufficient. If the official has determined that the petition appears to be insufficient, the official shall also provide the specific reasons underlying the determination of insufficiency, including the number of valid signatures if relevant to the determination. In the case of a petition for nominating an unaffiliated candidate, the official shall provide notification of sufficiency or insufficiency to the candidate on or before the primary election date. Upon determining that the petition is sufficient and after the time for protest has passed, the designated election official shall certify the candidate to the ballot, and, if the election is a coordinated election, so notify the coordinated election official.

SECTION 8. 1-4-909, C.R.S., is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SUBSECTION (1.5), to read:

1-4-909. Protest of designations and nominations. (1) A petition or certificate of designation or nomination that has been verified and appears to be sufficient under this code shall be deemed valid unless a protest is made in writing within five days after the election official's statement of sufficiency is issued or, in the case of a certificate of designation, within five days after the certificate of designation is filed with the designated election official. The protest shall state in a summary manner the alleged

impropriety. Notice of the protest shall be mailed forthwith to all candidates or officials who may be affected by it. The designated election official with whom the original certificate or petition is filed shall hear any protest within ten days after the protest is filed and shall pass upon the validity of the protest, whether of form or substance, and shall issue findings of fact and conclusions within seventy-two hours after the hearing.

(1.5) (a) A statement of sufficiency or insufficiency with respect to a nominating petition filed in accordance with section 1-4-908, C.R.S., shall be deemed valid unless a protest is made in writing by a registered elector within three days after the statement is issued to the designated election official with whom the petition was filed. The

Amendment 29:	Selecting Candidates for	
Primaries	6	5

protest shall specify the names challenged, corresponding petition and line numbers, and grounds for each protest. If any party is protesting the finding of the designated election official regarding the registration of a signer, the protest shall be accompanied by an affidavit of the elector or a copy of the election record of the signer.

- (b) The designated election official may require a protesting party to pay a filing fee, to be deposited in a fund maintained by the designated election official and used for the purpose of defraying costs associated with such protests. Any such fee shall be uniformly applied to candidates running for the same office, and shall be reasonably related to the costs of the designated election official in administering the protest proceeding, except that such fees shall not exceed the following amounts:
 - (I) \$750, for petitions filed pursuant to paragraphs (i), (j), and (l) of subsection (2) of section 1-4-801;
 - (II) \$500, for petitions filed pursuant to paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 1-4-801;
 - (III) \$250, for all other petitions filed pursuant to subsection (2) of section 1-4-801.
- (c) Notice of the protest shall also be delivered to all candidates affiliated with the same party who have filed nominating petitions for that office and the election official responsible for preparing the ballot for that election; however, a protest shall not be rejected solely on the grounds that such other persons did not receive the required notice. The designated election official with whom the original petition was filed, or his or her designee, shall hear any protest within ten days after the protest is filed and shall pass upon the validity of the protest, whether of form or substance, and shall issue findings of fact and conclusions within forty-eight hours after the hearing.
 - (2) This section does not apply to any nomination made at a primary election.

SECTION 9. Section 1-4-911, C.R.S., is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SUBSECTION (2), to read:

- **1-4-911. Review of a protest**. (1) The party filing the protest has the burden of sustaining the protest by a preponderance of the evidence. The decision upon matters of substance is open to review, if prompt application is made, as provided in section 1-1- 113. The remedy in all cases shall be summary, and the decision of any court having jurisdiction shall be final and not subject to review by any other court; except that the supreme court, in the exercise of its discretion, may review any judicial proceeding in a summary way.
- (2) In the case of nominating petitions for nominations to be made by primary election, the following additional provisions shall apply:

66	Amendment 29:
Selecting Candidates for Primaries	

(a) Any request for review pursuant to section 1-1-113 shall be filed with the district court within two days after the issuance of a decision by the designated election official, and the district court shall hold a

hearing on the matter and render its decision within seven days. The district court shall review the decision of the designated election official using the standards set forth in subsection (7) of section 24-4-106, C.R.S.

- (b) Any appeal to the supreme court pursuant to section 1-1-113 shall be filed within two days after the issuance of the district court decision, and, should the supreme court decide in its discretion to exercise jurisdiction over the case, it shall review the district court proceeding in a summary way and issue its decision within five days.
- (c) In any event, all judicial proceedings shall be concluded as of fifty-five days prior to the primary election for which the candidate seeks to be placed on the ballot.

SECTION 10. 1-4-1002(1), (2), and (7), Colorado Revised Statutes, are amended to read:

- 1-4-1002. Vacancies in nomination. (1) Any vacancy in a party designation occurring after the party assembly at which the designation was made and no later than sixty-one days before the primary election may be filled by the party assembly vacancy committee of the district, county, or state, depending upon the office for which the vacancy in designation has occurred. A vacancy may be caused by the declination, death, disqualification, or withdrawal of any person designated by the assembly as a candidate for nomination, or by failure of the assembly to make designation of any candidate for nomination, or by death or resignation of any elective officer after an assembly at which a candidate could have been designated for nomination for the office at a primary election had the vacancy then existed. No person is eligible for appointment to fill a vacancy in a party designation unless that person meets all requirements of candidacy as of the date of the assembly that made the original designation.
- (2) Any vacancy in a party designation occurring during the sixty-days before the primary election or any vacancy in a party nomination occurring on or after the day of the primary election and no later than sixty-one days before the general election may be filled by the respective party assembly vacancy committee of the district, county, or state, depending upon the office for which the vacancy in designation or nomination has occurred. A vacancy may be caused by the declination, death, disqualification, resignation, or withdrawal of any person previously designated or of any person nominated at the primary election or by declination, death, disqualification, or withdrawal of any elective officer after a primary election at which a nomination could have been made for the office had the vacancy then existed. This subsection shall also apply to any

Amendment 29:	Selecting Candidates for	
Primaries		67

situation in which there is no party nominee for a particular office as of the date of the primary election because of the declination, death, disqualification, resignation, or withdrawal during the period between ninety-five days before the primary election and the date of the primary election of the sole candidate to have filed a valid nominating petition for that office. No person is eligible for appointment to fill a vacancy in the party designation or nomination unless that person meets all requirements of candidacy as of the date of the primary election.

- (7) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (7.3) of this section, any vacancy in a statewide or county office, in the office of district attorney, or in the office of a state senator occurring during the term of office shall be filled at the next general election with nomination or designation by the political party as follows:
- (a) If the vacancy occurs prior to the political party assembly and no later than sixty-one days before the primary election prior to the ninety-fifth day before the primary election, the designated election official shall notify the chairperson of each major political party that the office will be on the ballot for the next primary election and shall publish such notification in a newspaper of general circulation, and candidates for the office shall be designated placed on the primary ballot by petition as provided in section 1-4-601 OR 1-4-603 1-4-801. If as of ninety-five days before the primary election it is determined that one or more of the major political parties are not represented by any nominating petitions that have been filed as of the deadline for filing such petitions, the designated election official shall notify the chairperson of each

affected major political party that no petition has been filed with respect to that party, and candidates to be placed on the primary ballot for that party shall be designated by the respective party central committee vacancy committee for the state, county, judicial district, or state senate district.

- (b) If the vacancy occurs after the political party assembly ninety-fifth day before the primary election and no later than sixty-one days before the primary election, the designated election official shall add the office to the notice of election and notify the chairperson of each major political party that the office will be on the ballot for the next primary election. Candidates for the office shall be designated as provided in section 1-4-603 or by the respective party central committee vacancy committee for the state, county, judicial district, or state senate district.
- (c) If the vacancy occurs during the sixty days before the primary election or after the primary election and no later than sixty-one days before the general election, the designated election official shall add the office to the notice of election for the general election. Nominations for the office shall be made by the respective party central committee vacancy committee for the state, county, judicial district, or state senate district or as provided in section 1-4-802 for the nomination of unaffiliated candidates.

68		Amendment 29:
	g Candidates for Primaries	

SECTION 11. 30-10-501.5, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

30-10-501.5. Qualifications. (1) No person shall be eligible for nomination, election, or appointment to the office of sheriff unless such person:

(c) Has had a complete set of fingerprints taken by a qualified law enforcement agency and submitted a receipt evidencing such fingerprinting at the time of filing his or her written acceptance pursuant to section 1-4-601(3), 1-4-906, or section 1-4-1002(5), C.R.S., or a candidate filing an affidavit of intent pursuant to section 1-4-1101, C.R.S. Such law enforcement agency shall forward the fingerprints to the Colorado bureau of investigation. The bureau shall utilize such fingerprints, its files and records, and those of the federal bureau of investigation for the purpose of determining whether the person has ever been convicted of or pleaded guilty or entered a plea of nolo contendere to any felony charge under federal or state laws. The Colorado bureau of investigation shall notify the county clerk and recorder of the county wherein the person is a candidate of the results of the fingerprint analysis. In the event that a conviction or plea is disclosed, such person shall be deemed unqualified for the office of sheriff, unless pardoned. The results of such fingerprint analysis shall be confidential; except that the county clerk and recorder may divulge whether such person is qualified or unqualified for the office of sheriff.

SECTION 12. Repeal. 1-4-601, 1-4-603, 1-4-604, and 1-4-605, Colorado Revised Statutes, are repealed.

Amendment 30 Election Day Voter Registration

Ballot Title: An amendment to the Colorado constitution concerning election day voter registration, and, in connection therewith, allowing an eligible citizen to register and vote on any day that a vote may be cast in any election beginning on January 1, 2004; specifying election day voter registration locations; specifying that an eligible citizen who registers to vote on election day shall register in person and present a current and valid Colorado driver's license or state identification card or other approved documentation; and directing the Colorado general assembly, in implementing election day voter registration, to adopt necessary protections against election fraud.

Amendment 30:	: Election Day Voter	
Registration	6	<u>3</u> 9

Text of Proposal:

Be it Enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:

Article VII of the Constitution of the state of Colorado is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:

Section 13. Colorado election day voter registration.

- (1) Purpose. The people of the state of Colorado declare that increasing the number of Colorado citizens who vote is beneficial to the community, and that allowing eligible citizens to register and vote on election day will increase the number of citizens voting.
- (2) Election Day Registration. Effective January 1, 2004, an eligible Colorado citizen may register to vote on any day that a vote may be cast at any election. An eligible Colorado citizen may register at the polling place for the precinct in which he or she resides, at the office of the clerk and recorder of the county in which he or she resides, or at any other location which may be designated by such county clerk and recorder, and may cast a ballot at such election on that day. An eligible Colorado citizen registering to vote under this section must appear in person at such location and must present a current valid Colorado driver's license or state identification card or other appropriate documentation that the secretary of state shall approve.
- (3) Enforcement. In implementing this measure, the general assembly shall adopt all necessary additional protections against election fraud.

Amendment 31 English Language Education

Ballot Title: An amendment to the Colorado constitution concerning English-language education in Colorado public schools, and, in connection therewith, requiring children to be taught by using the English language in their classrooms and requiring children who are learning English to be placed in an English immersion program that is intended to last one year or less and, if successful, will result in placement of such children in ordinary classrooms; exempting from such requirements those children whose parents or legal guardians obtain annual waivers allowing the children to transfer to classes using bilingual education or other educational methodologies, but making such waivers very difficult to obtain because the school can grant them only in very restrictive

70.......Amendment

31: English Language Education

circumstances and can deny them for any reason or no reason thereby reducing the likelihood that bilingual education will be used; requiring schools that grant any waivers to offer bilingual education or other educational methodologies when they have at least 20 students in the same grade who receive a waiver and in all other cases permitting students to transfer to a public school in which bilingual education or other methodologies are offered, with the cost of such transfer, excluding transportation, to be provided by the state; allowing a parent or legal guardian to sue public employees granting a waiver if the parent or guardian later concludes that the waiver was granted in error and injured the child's education; creating severe legal consequences identified in the amendment for such public employees who willfully and repeatedly refuse to implement the amendment; and requiring schools to test children learning English,

enrolled in second grade or higher, to monitor their progress, using a standardized nationally-normed test of academic subject matter given in English.

Text of Proposal:

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:

SECTION 1. Article IX of the Constitution of the state of Colorado is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:

Section 18. English Language Education for Children in Public Schools.

- (1) Findings and declarations. The people of Colorado find and declare that:
- (a) The English language is the common public language of the United States of America and of the state of Colorado. It is spoken by the vast majority of Colorado residents, and is also the leading world language for science, technology, and international business, thereby being the language of economic opportunity; and
- (b) Immigrant parents are eager to have their children acquire a good knowledge of English, thereby allowing them to fully participate in the American dream of economic and social advancement; and
- (c) The government and the public schools of Colorado have a moral obligation and a constitutional duty to provide all of Colorado's children, regardless of their ethnicity or national origins, with an available public school education necessary to become productive members of our society. Fluency and literacy in the English language are among the most important parts of such an education; and

nendment 31: English Language	
lucation	71

- (d) The public schools of Colorado often do an inadequate job of educating immigrant children, wasting financial resources on costly experimental native language programs whose failure over past decades is demonstrated by the current high drop-out rates and low English literacy levels of many immigrant children; and
- (e) Young immigrant children can easily acquire full fluency in a new language, such as English, if they are heavily exposed to that language in the classroom at an early age; and
- (f) Therefore it is resolved that: all children in Colorado public schools shall be taught English as rapidly and effectively as possible.

(2) Definitions. In this section,

- (a) "Bilingual education," also known as native language instruction, means a language acquisition process for students in which all or substantial portions of the instruction, textbooks, or teaching materials are in the child's native language other than English.
- (b) "English language classroom" means a classroom in which the language of instruction used by the teaching personnel is overwhelmingly the English language, and in which all such teaching personnel are fluent and literate in the English language. English language classrooms encompass both English language mainstream classrooms and sheltered English immersion classrooms.
- (c) "English language mainstream classroom" means a standard classroom, one in which the students either are native English language speakers or already have acquired reasonable fluency in English.
- (d) "English learner" means a child who is not fluent in English and who is not currently able to perform ordinary classroom work in English.
- (e) "Sheltered English immersion" means an English language acquisition process for students in which nearly all classroom instruction is in English but with the curriculum and presentation designed for children who are learning the language. Books and instructional materials are in English and all reading, writing, and subject matter are taught in English. Although teaching personnel may use a minimal amount of the child's native language when necessary, no subject matter shall be taught in any language other

than English, and children in this program learn to read and write solely in English. Other aspects of this educational methodology shall follow the standard definition of "sheltered English" or "structured English" found in standard educational literature.

(3) English language education. Subject to the exceptions provided in subsection (4) of this section all children in Colorado public schools shall be taught English by being taught in English and all children shall be placed in English language classrooms. Children

72......Amendment 31: English Language Education

who are English learners shall be educated through sheltered English immersion during a temporary transition period not normally intended to exceed one year. Public schools shall be permitted but not required to place in the same classroom English learners of different ages but whose degree of English proficiency is similar. Public schools shall be encouraged to mix together in the same classroom English learners from different native-language groups but with the same degree of English fluency. Once English learners have acquired reasonable fluency in English and are able to perform ordinary school work in English, they shall no longer be classified as English learners and shall be transferred to English language mainstream classrooms. As much as possible, per pupil supplemental funding for English learners shall at least be maintained. Foreign language classes for children who are not English learners shall not be affected, nor shall special educational programs for physically- or mentally-impaired students be affected.

- (4) Parental waivers. (a) The requirements of subsection (3) of this section may be waived with the prior written informed consent, to be provided annually, of the child's parents or legal guardian under the circumstances specified in this subsection (4). Such informed consent shall require that said parents or legal guardian initiate the waiver process and personally visit the school to apply for the waiver and that they there be provided a full description in a language they can understand of the educational materials to be used in the different educational program choices and all the public school educational opportunities available to the child. If a parental waiver has been granted, the affected child may be transferred to classes teaching English and other subjects through bilingual education techniques or other generally recognized educational methodologies permitted by law. Individual schools in which twenty students or more of a given grade level receive a waiver shall be required to offer such a class; in all other cases, such students shall be permitted to transfer to a public school in which such a class is offered, with the costs of such transfer, excluding transportation, to be provided by the state. Schools may refuse to approve any such waiver application at their sole discretion, without any need to indicate cause.
- (b) The circumstances in which a parental exception waiver may be applied for under this section are as follows:
- (I) Children who already know English: the child already possesses good English language skills, as measured by oral evaluation or standardized tests of English vocabulary comprehension, reading, and writing, in which the child scores approximately at or above the state average for his or her grade level or at or above the fifth grade average, whichever is lower; or

Amendment 31: English Language
Education......73

- (II) Older children: the child is age ten years or older, and it is the informed belief of the school principal and educational staff that an alternate course of educational study would be better suited to the child's overall educational progress and rapid acquisition of basic English language skills; or
- (III) Children with special individual needs: the child already has been placed for a period of not less than thirty calendar days during that particular school year in an English language classroom and it is subsequently the informed belief of the school principal and educational staff that the child has such special and individual physical or psychological needs, above and beyond the child's lack of English proficiency, that an alternate course of educational study would be better suited to the child's overall educational development and rapid acquisition of English. A written description of no fewer than two hundred fifty words documenting these special individual needs for the specific child must be provided

and permanently added to the child's official school records, and in order to be approved the waiver application must contain the original authorizing signatures of both the school principal and the local school superintendent. Waivers granted under this subparagraph cannot be applied for until after thirty instructional days of a given school year have passed, and this waiver process must be renewed each and every school year. Any such decision to issue such an individual waiver is to be made subject to the examination and approval of the local school superintendent, under guidelines established by and subject to the review of the local board of education. The existence of such special individual needs shall not compel issuance of a waiver, and the parents shall be fully informed of their own right to refuse to agree to a waiver.

(5) Legal standing and parental enforcement. As detailed in subsections (3) and (4) of this section, all Colorado school children have the right to be provided at their public school of choice with an English language public education. The parent or legal guardian of any Colorado school child shall have legal standing to sue for enforcement of the provisions of this section, and if successful shall be awarded normal and customary attorney fees and actual and compensatory damages, but not punitive or consequential damages. Any school district employee or school board member who willfully and repeatedly refuses to implement the terms of this section may be held personally liable for attorney fees and actual and compensatory damages by the child's parents or legal guardian, and cannot be subsequently indemnified for such assessed damages by any public or private third party. Any individual found so liable in a court of law shall be immediately removed from office for malfeasance, and shall be barred from holding any position of authority anywhere within the Colorado government or the public school system for a

74	Amendment
31: English Language Education	

subsequent period of five years. Parents who apply for and are granted exception waivers under subparagraph (III) of paragraph (b) of subsection (4) of this section still retain for ten years thereafter the full legal right to sue the individuals who granted such waivers if they subsequently conclude during that period that the waivers were granted in error and ultimately injured the education of their child.

- (6) Standardized testing for monitoring education progress. In order to ensure that the educational progress of Colorado students in learning English together with other academic subjects is properly monitored, a standardized, nationally-normed written test of academic subject matter given in English shall be administered at least once each year to all Colorado public schoolchildren in grades 2 and higher who are English learners. Only students classified as severely learning disabled may be exempted from this test. The particular test to be used shall be selected by the Colorado Commissioner of Education, and it is intended that the test shall generally remain the same from year to year. The national percentile scores of students shall be confidentially provided to individual parents, and the aggregated percentile scores and distributional data for individual schools and school districts shall be made publicly available on an internet web site; the scores for students classified as English learners shall be separately subaggregated and made publicly available there as well, with further sub-aggregation based on the English learner program type in which students are enrolled. Scores of students who are neither exempted nor take the test shall be reported as zero. Although administration of this test is required solely for monitoring educational progress, Colorado public officials and administrators may utilize these test scores for other purposes as well if they so choose.
- (7) Severability. If a provision of this section or its application to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of this section that can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this section are severable.
- **(8) Interpretation.** Under circumstances in which portions of this statute are subject to conflicting interpretations, the Findings and Declarations of subsection (1) of this section shall be assumed to contain the governing intent of this section.

SECTION 2. Effective date - applicability. This initiative shall take effect upon proclamation of the vote by the Governor, and shall apply to all school terms beginning more than sixty days after such date.

Amendment 31: English Language	
Education	75

Referendum A Exempt Elected District Attorneys from Term Limits

Ballot Title: An amendment to the constitution of the state of Colorado, exempting district attorneys from constitutional term limits.

Text of Proposal:

Be It Resolved by the Senate of the Sixty-third General Assembly of the State of Colorado, the House of Representatives concurring herein:

SECTION 1. At the next election at which such question may be submitted, there shall be submitted to the registered electors of the state of Colorado, for their approval or rejection, the following amendment to the constitution of the state of Colorado, to wit:

Section 11 (1) of article XVIII of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 11. Elected government officials - limitation on terms. (1) In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected officials of governments are responsive to the citizens of those governments, no nonjudicial elected official of any county, city and county, city, town, school district, service authority, or any other political subdivision of the State of Colorado, no member of the state board of education, and no elected member of the governing board of a state institution of higher education shall serve more than two consecutive terms in office, except that with respect to terms of office which are two years or shorter in duration, no such elected official shall serve more than three consecutive terms in office; except that this section shall not apply to elected district attorneys. This limitation on the number of terms shall apply to terms of office beginning on or after January 1, 1995. For purposes of this Section 11, terms are considered consecutive unless they are at least four years apart.

Section 13 of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 13. District attorneys - election - term - salary -qualifications. In each judicial district there shall be a district attorney elected by the electors thereof, whose term of office shall be four years. District attorneys shall receive such salaries and perform such duties as provided by law. No person shall be eligible to the office of district attorney who shall not, at the time of his or her election, possess all the qualifications of district court judges as provided in this article. All district

76	Referendun
A: District Attorney Term Limits	

attorneys holding office on the effective date of this amendment shall continue in office for the remainder of the respective terms for which they were elected or appointed. Elected district attorneys shall not be subject to the term limits enumerated in section 11 of article XVIII of this constitution.

SECTION 2. Each elector voting at said election and desirous of voting for or against said amendment

shall cast a vote as provided by law either "Yes" or "No" on the proposition: "An amendment to the constitution of the state of Colorado, exempting district attorneys from constitutional term limits."

SECTION 3. The votes cast for the adoption or rejection of said amendment shall be canvassed and the result determined in the manner provided by law for the canvassing of votes for representatives in Congress, and if a majority of the electors voting on the question shall have voted "Yes", the said amendment shall become a part of the state constitution.

Referendum B Public/Private Ownership of Local Health Care Services

Ballot Title: An amendment to section 2 of article XI of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the authorization for local governments to become a partner with a public or private entity in the provision of health care services, and, in connection therewith, authorizing a local government to become a subscriber, member, or shareholder in or a joint owner with any person or company, public or private, in order to provide such health care without incurring debt.

Text of Proposal:

Be It Resolved by the Senate of the Sixty-third General Assembly of the State of Colorado, the House of Representatives concurring herein:

SECTION 1. At the next election at which such question may be submitted, there shall be submitted to the registered electors of the state of Colorado, for their approval or rejection, the following amendment to the constitution of the state of Colorado, to wit:

Section 2 of article XI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Referendum B: Ownership of Health Care	
Services77	

Section 2. No aid to corporations - no joint ownership by state, county, city, town, or school district. (1) Neither the state, nor any county, city, town, township, or school district shall make any donation or grant to, or in aid of, or become a subscriber to, or shareholder in any corporation or company or a joint owner with any person, company, or corporation, public or private, in or out of the state, except as to such ownership as may accrue to the state by escheat, or by forfeiture, by operation or provision of law; and except as to such ownership as may accrue to the state, or to any county, city, town, township, or school district, or to either or any of them, jointly with any person, company, or corporation, by forfeiture or sale of real estate for nonpayment of taxes, or by donation or devise for public use, or by purchase by or on behalf of any or either of them, jointly with any or either of them, under execution in cases of fines, penalties, or forfeiture of recognizance, breach of condition of official bond, or of bond to secure public moneys, or the performance of any contract in which they or any of them may be jointly or severally interested.

(2) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit any city or town from becoming a subscriber or shareholder in any corporation or company, public or private, or a joint owner with any person, company, or corporation, public or private, in order to effect the development of energy resources after discovery, or production, transportation, or transmission of energy in whole or in part for the benefit of the inhabitants of such city or town.

(3) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit any county, city, town, township, or special district lawfully authorized to provide any health care function, service, or facility from becoming a subscriber, member, or shareholder in any corporation, company, or other entity, public or private, or a joint owner with any person, company, corporation, or other entity, public or private, in or out of the state, in order to affect the provision of such function, service, or facility in whole or in part. In any such case, the private person, company, corporation, or entity or relationship established shall not be deemed a political subdivision, local government, or local public body for any purpose. Any such county, city, town, township, or special district that enters into an arrangement under this section shall not incur any debt nor pledge its credit or faith under such arrangement. Any county, city, town, township, or special district entering into such joint ownership or relationship as subscriber, member, or shareholder or otherwise shall own its just proportion to the whole amount so invested. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the powers, duties, or authority of any political subdivision as otherwise provided or authorized by law. Nothing in this subsection (3) shall be construed to limit the powers of the general assembly over the provision of any health care function

78	Referendum B:
Ownership of Health Care Services	

service, or facility by any county, city, town, township, or special district.

SECTION 2. Each elector voting at said election and desirous of voting for or against said amendment shall cast a vote as provided by law either "Yes" or "No" on the proposition: "An amendment to section 2 of article XI of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the authorization for local governments to become a partner with a public or private entity in the provision of health care services, and, in connection therewith, authorizing a local government to become a subscriber, member, or shareholder in or a joint owner with any person or company, public or private, in order to provide such health care without incurring debt."

SECTION 3. The votes cast for the adoption or rejection of said amendment shall be canvassed and the result determined in the manner provided by law for the canvassing of votes for representatives in Congress, and if a majority of the electors voting on the question shall have voted "Yes", the said amendment shall become a part of the state constitution.

Referendum C Qualifications for County Coroners

Ballot Title: An amendment to article XIV of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the authority of the general assembly to establish qualifications for the office of county coroner.

Text of Proposal:

Be It Resolved by the Senate of the Sixty-third General Assembly of the State of Colorado, the House of Representatives concurring herein:

SECTION 1. At the next election at which such question may be submitted, there shall be submitted to the registered electors of the state of Colorado, for their approval or rejection, the following amendment to the constitution of the state of Colorado, to wit:

Article XIV of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW

SECTION to read:

Section 8.7. Coroner - qualifications. The general assembly shall have the authority to establish by law qualifications for the office of county coroner, including but not limited to training and certification requirements.

Referendum C: Qualifications for County	
Coroners	79

SECTION 2. Each elector voting at said election and desirous of voting for or against said amendment shall cast a vote as provided by law either "Yes" or "No" on the proposition: "An amendment to article XIV of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the authority of the general assembly to establish qualifications for the office of county coroner."

SECTION 3. The votes cast for the adoption or rejection of said amendment shall be canvassed and the result determined in the manner provided by law for the canvassing of votes for representatives in Congress, and if a majority of the electors voting on the question shall have voted "Yes", the said amendment shall become a part of the state constitution.

Referendum D Repeal of Obsolete Constitutional Provisions

Ballot Title: Amendments to articles VI, XVIII, XX, and XXVII of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the repeal of certain obsolete provisions in the constitution of the state of Colorado.

Text of Proposal:

Be It Resolved by the Senate of the Sixty-third General Assembly of the State of Colorado, the House of Representatives concurring herein:

SECTION 1. At the next election at which such question may be submitted, there shall be submitted to the registered electors of the state of Colorado, for their approval or rejection, the following amendments to the constitution of the state of Colorado, to wit:

Section 9 (2) and (3) of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado are amended to read:

Section 9. District courts - jurisdiction. (2) Effective the second Tuesday in January, 1965, all causes pending before the county court in each county, except those causes within the jurisdiction of the county court as provided by law, and except as provided in subsection (3) of this section, shall then be transferred to and pending in the district court of such county, and no bond or obligation given in any of said causes shall be affected by said transfer.

	(3) In the city and co	ounty of Denv	ver, exclusive	original jur	isdiction in al	I matters of p	orobate,	settlements
of	estates of deceased	d persons, ap	pointment of	guardians,	conservators	and adminis	strators,	and

80	Referendum D:
Obsolete Constitutional Provisions	

settlement of their accounts, the adjudication of the mentally ill, and such other jurisdiction as may be provided by law shall be vested in a probate court, created by section 1 of this article. and to which court all of such jurisdiction of the county court of the city and county of Denver shall be transferred, including all pending cases and matters, effective on the second Tuesday of January, 1965.

Section 14 of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 14. Probate court - jurisdiction - judges - election - term - qualifications. The probate court of the city and county of Denver shall have such jurisdiction as provided by section 9, subsection (3) of this article. The judge of the probate court of the city and county of Denver shall have the same qualifications and term of office as provided in this article for district judges. and shall be elected initially by the qualified electors of the city and county of Denver at the general election in the year 1964. Vacancies shall be filled as provided in section 20 of this article. The number of judges of the probate court of the city and county of Denver may be increased as provided by law.

Section 15 of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 15. Juvenile court - jurisdiction - judges - election - term - qualifications. The juvenile court of the city and county of Denver shall have such jurisdiction as shall be provided by law. The judge of the juvenile court of the city and county of Denver shall have the same qualifications and term of office as provided in this article for district judges. and shall be elected initially by the qualified electors of the city and county of Denver at the general election in the year 1964. Vacancies shall be filled as provided in section 20 of this article. The number of judges of the juvenile court of the city and county of Denver may be increased as provided by law.

Section 20 (2) of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is repealed as follows:

Section 20. Vacancies. (2) All justices and judges of courts of record holding office on the effective date of this constitutional amendment shall continue in office for the remainder of the respective terms for which they were elected or appointed. Retention in office thereafter shall be by election as prescribed in section 25.

Section 21 of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Referendum D: Obsolete Constitutional	
Provisions	81

Section 21. Rule-making power. The supreme court shall make and promulgate rules governing the administration of all courts and shall make and promulgate rules governing practice and procedure in civil and criminal cases, except that the general assembly shall have the power to provide simplified procedures in county courts for claims not exceeding five hundred dollars and for the trial of misdemeanors.

Section 23 (3) (j) of article VI of the constitution of the state of Colorado is repealed as follows:

Section 23. Retirement and removal of justices and judges. (3) (j) This subsection (3) shall take effect July 1, 1983, and the procedures therein shall be applicable to any actions pending on that date. The term of office of any member of the commission serving on July 1, 1983, shall terminate on that date, but nothing in this subsection (3) shall prohibit any member from succeeding himself on the commission.

Section 9 (5) (c) and (5) (d) of article XVIII of the constitution of the state of Colorado are repealed as follows:

Section 9. Limited gaming permitted. (5) (c) The general assembly shall enact, amend, or repeal

such laws as are necessary to implement the provisions of this section 9, by May 1, 1991.

(d) The general assembly shall make a general fund appropriation to the limited gaming fund, in the form of a loan, to provide the state treasurer sufficient funds to cover any and all organizational and administrative expenses in connection with this section 9, to be effective no later than July 1, 1991. This loan shall be repaid to the general fund by and at the discretion of the state treasurer at the end of any fiscal year, out of the adjusted gross proceeds paid into the limited gaming fund, not sooner than July 1, 1992 and such repayment may be extended to not later than July 1, 1997. Any repayment shall be made before the state treasurer makes any distributions under subparagraph (II) of paragraph (b) of this subsection (5).

Section 12 of article XVIII of the constitution of the state of Colorado is repealed as follows:

Section 12. (1) CONGRESSIONAL TERM LIMITS AMENDMENT.

The exact language for addition to the United States Constitution follows:

Section 1: No person shall serve in the office of United States Representative for more than three terms, but upon ratification of this amendment no person who has held the office of United States Representative or who then helds the office shall serve for more than two additional terms.

82	Referendum D:
Obsolete Constitutional Provisions	

Section 2: No person shall serve in the office of United States Senator for more than two terms, but upon ratification of this amendment no person who has held the office of United States Senator or who then holds the office shall serve for more than one additional term.

Section 3: This amendment shall have no time limit within which it must be ratified to become operative upon the ratification of the legislatures of three-fourths of the several states.

- (2) VOTER INSTRUCTION TO STATE LEGISLATORS.
- (a) The voters instruct each state legislator to vote to apply for an amendment-proposing convention under Article V of the United States Constitution and to ratify the Congressional Term Limits Amendment when referred to the states.
- (b) All election ballots shall have "DISREGARDED VOTER INSTRUCTION ON TERM LIMITS" designated next to the name of each state legislator who fails to comply with the terms of subsection (5)(b).
- (c) Said ballot designation shall not appear after the Colorado legislature has made an Article V application that has not been withdrawn and has ratified the Congressional Term Limits Amendment, when proposed.
 - (3) VOTER INSTRUCTION TO MEMBERS OF CONGRESS.
- (a) The voters instruct each member of the congressional delegation to approve the Congressional Term Limits Amendment.
- (b) All election ballots shall have "disregarded voter instruction on term limits" designated next to the name of each member of Congress who fails to comply with the terms of subsection (5)(b).
 - (c) Said ballot designation shall not appear after the Congressional Term Limits Amendment is before

the states for ratification.

(4) VOTER INSTRUCTION TO NON-INCUMBENTS.

The words "DECLINED TO TAKE PLEDGE TO SUPPORT TERM LIMITS" shall be designated on all primary and general election ballots next to the names of non-incumbent candidates for United States senator, United States representative, state senator, and state representative who have not signed the pledge to support term limits unless the Colorado legislature has ratified the Congressional Term Limits Amendment.

The pledge shall read:

ferendum D: Obsolete Constitutional ovisions83	
pledge to use all my legislative powers to enact the proposed Congressional Term Limits Amendment forth in Article XVIII, section 12. If elected, I pledge to vote in such a way that the designation SREGARDED VOTER INSTRUCTION ON TERM LIMITS" will not appear next to my name.	∺nt
nature of Candidate	

(5) DESIGNATION PROCESS.

- (a) The Colorado secretary of state shall determine these ballot designations. The ballot designation shall appear unless clear and convincing evidence establishes that the candidate has honored voter instructions or signed the pledge in subsection (4). Challenges to designation or lack of designation shall be filed with the Colorado supreme court within 5 days of the determination and shall be decided within 21 days after filing. Determinations shall be made public 30 days or more before the Colorado secretary of state certifies the ballot.
- (b) Non-compliance with voter instruction is demonstrated by any of the following actions with respect to the application or ratification by state legislators, and in the case of members of Congress referring the Congressional Term Limits Amendment for ratification, if the legislator:
 - (i) fails to vote in favor when brought to a vote;
 - (ii) fails to second if it lacks one;
- (iii) fails to vote in favor of all votes bringing the measure before any committee in which he or she serves;
 - (iv) fails to propose or otherwise bring to a vote of the full legislative body, if necessary;
- (v) fails to vote against any attempt to delay, table or otherwise prevent a vote by the full legislative body or committee;
 - (vi) fails in any way to ensure that all votes are recorded and made available to the public;
 - (vii) fails to vote against any change, addition or modification; or
- (viii) fails to vote against any amendment with longer limits than the Congressional Term Limits Amendment.

(6) ENFORCEMENT.

84	Referendum D.
Obsolete Constitutional Provisions	

Any legal challenge to this section 12 shall be an original action filed with the Colorado supreme court. All terms of this section 12 are severable.

Section 1 of article XX of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 1. Incorporated. The municipal corporation known as the city of Denver and all municipal corporations and that part of the quasi-municipal corporation known as the county of Arapahoe, in the state of Colorado, included within the exterior boundaries of the said city of Denver as the same shall be bounded when this amendment takes effect, are hereby consolidated and are hereby declared to be a single body politic and corporate, by the name of the "City and County of Denver". By that name said corporation shall have perpetual succession, and shall own, possess, and hold all property, real and personal, theretofore owned, possessed, or held by the said city of Denver and by such included municipal corporations, and also all property, real and personal, theretofore owned, possessed, or held by the said county of Arapahoe, and shall assume, manage, and dispose of all trusts in any way connected therewith; shall succeed to all the rights and liabilities, and shall acquire all benefits and shall assume and pay all bonds, obligations, and indebtedness of said city of Denver and of said included municipal corporations and of the county of Arapahoe; by that name may sue and defend, plead and be impleaded, in all courts and places, and in all matters and proceedings; may have and use a common seal and alter the same at pleasure; may purchase, receive, hold, and enjoy or sell and dispose of, real and personal property; may receive bequests, gifts, and donations of all kinds of property, in fee simple, or in trust for public, charitable, or other purposes; and do all things and acts necessary to carry out the purposes of such gifts, bequests, and donations, with power to manage, sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of the same in accordance with the terms of the gift, bequest, or trust; shall have the power, within or without its territorial limits, to construct, condemn and purchase, purchase, acquire, lease, add to, maintain, conduct, and operate water works, light plants, power plants, transportation systems, heating plants, and any other public utilities or works or ways local in use and extent, in whole or in part, and everything required therefore, for the use of said city and county and the inhabitants thereof, and any such systems, plants, or works or ways, or any contracts in relation or connection with either, that may exist and which said city and county may desire to purchase, in whole or in part, the same or any part thereof may be purchased by said city and county which may enforce such purchase by proceedings at law as in taking land for public use by right of eminent domain, and shall have the power to issue bonds upon the vote of the taxpaying electors, at any special or general election, in any amount

Referendum D: Obsolete Constitutional Provisions......85

necessary to carry out any of said powers or purposes, as may by the charter be provided.

The provisions of section 3 of article XIV of this constitution and the general annexation and consolidation statutes of the state relating to counties shall apply to the city and county of Denver. Any contiguous town, city, or territory hereafter annexed to or consolidated with the city and county of Denver, under any such laws of this state, in whatsoever county the same may be at the time, shall be detached per se from such other county and become a municipal and territorial part of the city and county of Denver, together with all property thereunto belonging.

The city and county of Denver shall alone always constitute one judicial district of the state.

Any other provisions of this constitution to the contrary notwithstanding:

No annexation or consolidation proceeding shall be initiated after the effective date of this amendment pursuant to the general annexation and consolidation statutes of the state of Colorado to annex lands to or consolidate lands with the city and county of Denver until such proposed annexation or consolidation is first approved by a majority vote of a six-member boundary control commission composed of one commissioner from each of the boards of county commissioners of Adams, Arapahoe, and Jefferson counties, respectively, and three elected officials of the city and county of Denver to be chosen by the mayor. The commissioners from each of the said counties shall be appointed by resolution of their respective boards.

No land located in any county other than Adams, Arapahoe, or Jefferson counties shall be annexed to or consolidated with the city and county of Denver unless such annexation or consolidation is approved by the unanimous vote of all the members of the board of county commissioners of the county in which such land is located.

Any territory attached to the city and county of Denver or the city of Lakewood or the city of Aurora during the period extending from April 1, 1974, to the effective date of this amendment, whether or not subject to judicial review, shall be detached therefrom on July 1, 1975, unless any such annexation is ratified by the boundary control commission on or before July 1, 1975.

Nothing in this amendment shall be construed as prohibiting the entry of any final judgment in any annexation judicial review proceeding pending on April 1, 1974, declaring any annexation by the city and county of Denver to be invalid.

86	Referendum D):
Obsolete Constitutional Provisions		

The boundary control commission shall have the power at any time by four concurring votes to detach all or any portion of any territory validly annexed to the city and county of Denver during the period extending from March 1, 1973, to the effective date of this amendment.

All actions, including actions regarding procedural rules, shall be adopted by the commission by majority vote. Each commissioner shall have one vote, including the commissioner who acts as the chairman of the commission. All procedural rules adopted by the commission shall be filed with the secretary of state.

This amendment shall be self-executing.

Section 3 of article XX of the constitution of the state of Colorado is amended to read:

Section 3. Establishment of government civil service regulations. Immediately upon the canvass of the vote showing the adoption of this amendment, it shall be the duty of the governor of the state to issue his proclamation accordingly. and thereupon the city of Denver, and all municipal corporations and that part of the county of Arapahoe within the boundaries of said city, shall merge into the city and county of Denver, and the terms of office of all officers of the city of Denver and of all included municipalities and of the county of Arapahoe shall terminate; except, that the then mayor, auditor, engineer, council (which shall perform the duties of a board of county commissioners), police magistrate, chief of police and boards, of the city of Denver shall become, respectively, said officers of the city and county of Denver, and said engineer shall be ex officio surveyor and said chief of police shall be ex officio sheriff of the city and county of Denver; and the then clerk and ex officio recorder, treasurer, assessor and coroner of the county of Arapahoe, and the justices of the peace and constables holding office within the city of Denver,

shall become, respectively, said officers of the city and county of Denver, and the district attorney shall also be ex officio attorney of the city and county of Denver. The foregoing officers shall hold the said offices as above specified only until their successors are duly elected and qualified as herein provided for; except that the then district judges, county judge and district attorney shall serve their full terms, respectively, for which elected. The police and firemen of the city of Denver, except the chief of police as such, shall continue severally as the police and firemen of the city and county of Denver until they are severally discharged under such civil service regulations as shall be provided by the charter; and Every charter shall provide that the department of fire and police and the department of public utilities and works shall be under such civil service regulations as in said charter shall be provided.

Referendum D:	Obsolete Constitutional
Provisions	87

Section 3 (1) (a), (1) (c), (1) (d), and (1) (e) of article XXVII of the constitution of the state of Colorado are repealed as follows:

Section 3. Moneys allocated to Trust Fund. (1) (a) For each quarter through the fourth quarter of the State's Fiscal Year 1997-1998:

(I) to the Conservation Trust Fund and the Division of Parks and Outdoor Recreation in the amounts allocable thereto under statute as amended through January 1, 1992;

(II) to the State's Capital Construction Fund for payment of debt service due from and including September 1, 1993, to and including November 30, 1998, on the obligations described in Subsection (1)(c) of this Section 3, but only to the extent such debt service is due during such period according to the terms of the documents originating such obligations, and only if such debt service has not been prepaid or other moneys have not been dedicated or set aside for such debt service payments as of January 1, 1992, or thereafter; provided, however, that such obligations may be refunded and debt service from and including September 1, 1993, or the date of such refunding, if later, on any such refunding obligation shall be payable from Net Proceeds, even if payable after November 30, 1998, to the extent the debt service on such refunding obligation does not exceed the total amount of debt service payable on the applicable refunded obligation from and including September 1, 1993, or from the date of such refunding, if later, to and including November 30, 1998, according to the terms of the documents originating the applicable refunded obligation; and

- (III) The State Treasurer shall deposit all remaining Net Proceeds, if any, in trust for the Board of the Trust Fund.
- (c) (l) The people intend that debt service on the following obligations shall continue to be payable from Lottery Program Net Proceeds to the extent allowed in Section 3(1)(a) above:
- (A) State of Colorado Certificates of Deposit (1979); Wheat Ridge, Colorado Project, in the original principal amount of \$6,895,000 (Issue A); Pueblo, Colorado Project, in the original principal amount of \$5,320,000 (Issue B); Grand Junction, Colorado Project in the original principal amount of \$4,735,000 (Issue C);
- (B) Original principal amount of \$36,495,000 Colorado Health Facilities Authority Certificates of Deposit (1986) (Youth Services, Developmental Disabilities Projects);
- (C) Original principal amount of \$36,000,000 Colorado Convention Center Contract with the City and County of Denver (1987);

88	Referendum D
Obsolete Constitutional Provisions	

- (D) Original principal amount of \$63,025,000 State of Colorado Certificates of Deposit (1988) Master Lease Purchase Agreement (Correctional Facilities Project);
- (E) Original principal amount of \$66,894,861.85 State of Colorado Certificates of Deposit (1989) Master Lease Purchase Agreement (Various Projects); and
- (F) Original principal amount of \$28,635,000 State of Colorado Certificates of Deposit (1990) Master Lease Purchase Agreement (Additional Projects).
- (II) Except to the extent allowed in Section 3(1)(a) above for refunding obligations, debt service on obligations originated on or after January 1, 1992, shall not be payable from Net Proceeds.
- (d) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3(1)(a) above, the Board of the Trust Fund in its sole discretion may authorize payment of Net Proceeds for additional amounts of interest above the amounts authorized by Section 3(1)(a) for the refunding of any of the obligations listed above in Section 3(1)(c).
- (e) Nothing in this Section 3 shall prohibit the General Assembly from appropriating additional amounts from sources other than Net Proceeds or the Trust Fund for payment of the obligations listed above in Section 3(1)(c)(l) if Net Proceeds set aside, allocated, allotted, and continuously appropriated for such purpose by this Article are less than amounts needed for debt service on such obligations. Debt service payable prior to September 1, 1993, according to the terms of the documents originating such obligations shall not be paid from Net Proceeds allocated pursuant to this Article.
- **SECTION 2.** Each elector voting at said election and desirous of voting for or against said amendment shall cast a vote as provided by law either "Yes" or "No" on the proposition: "Amendments to articles VI, XVIII, XX, and XXVII of the constitution of the state of Colorado, concerning the repeal of certain obsolete provisions in the constitution of the state of Colorado."
- **SECTION 3.** The votes cast for the adoption or rejection of said amendment shall be canvassed and the result determined in the manner provided by law for the canvassing of votes for representatives in Congress, and if a majority of the electors voting on the question shall have voted "Yes", the said amendment shall become a part of the state constitution.

Referendum D: Obsolete Constitutional Provisions......89

Referendum E Cesar Chavez State Holiday

Ballot Title: Shall the thirty-first day of March be designated a legal holiday for observing the birthday of Cesar Estrada Chavez as "Cesar Chavez day"?

Text of Proposal:

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Colorado:

SECTION 1. 24-11-101 (1), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

24-11-101. Legal holidays - effect. (1) The following days, viz: The first day of January, commonly called New Year's day; the third Monday in January, which shall be observed as the birthday of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.; the third Monday in February, commonly called Washington-Lincoln day; the thirty-first day of March, which shall be observed as the birthday of Cesar Estrada Chavez and commonly called Cesar Chavez day in tribute to his unselfish commitment to the principles of social justice and respect for human dignity; the last Monday in May, commonly called Memorial day; the fourth day of July, commonly called Independence day; the first Monday in September, commonly called Labor day; the second Monday in October, commonly called Columbus day; the eleventh day of November, commonly called Veterans' day; the fourth Thursday in November, commonly called Thanksgiving day; the twenty-fifth day of December, commonly called Christmas day; and any day appointed or recommended by the governor of this state or the president of the United States as a day of fasting or prayer or thanksgiving, are hereby declared to be legal holidays and shall, for all purposes whatsoever, as regards the presenting for payment or acceptance and the protesting and giving notice of the dishonor of bills of exchange, drafts, bank checks, promissory notes, or other negotiable instruments and also for the holding of courts, be treated and considered as is the first day of the week commonly called Sunday.

SECTION 2. Repeal. 24-11-112, Colorado Revised Statutes, is repealed as follows:

24-11-112. César Chávez Day. (1) The thirty-first day of March in each year, the same being the
anniversary of the birth of César Estrada Chávez, shall be known as "César Chávez Day" and appropriate
observance may be held by the public and in all public schools of the state in tribute to his unselfish
commitment to the principles of social justice and respect for human dignity.

90Referd	endu
m E: Cesar Chavez State Holiday	

- (2) The head of a state agency may allow an employee of the agency to have a day off with pay on César Chávez day in lieu of any other legal holiday described in section 24-11-101 (1) that occurs in the same state fiscal year on a weekday, other than a weekday on which an election is held throughout the state, on which the state agency is required to be open but on which the operations of the agency are required to be maintained at only a minimum level.
- (3) On César Chávez day, each state agency shall remain open and conduct the operations of the agency at no less than a minimum level.
- (4) A holiday allowed under this section is in lieu of a legal holiday described in section 24-11-101 (1). The total number of legal holidays in a state fiscal year available to an employee of a state agency is not changed by this section.
 - **SECTION 3.** 5-1-301 (6), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:
- **5-1-301. General definitions.** In addition to definitions appearing in subsequent articles, as used in this code, unless the context otherwise requires:
- (6) "Business day" means any calendar day except Sunday, New Year's day, the third Monday in January observed as the birthday of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Cesar Chavez day, Washington-Lincoln day, Memorial day, Independence day, Labor day, Columbus day, Veterans' day, Thanksgiving day, and Christmas day.

SECTION 4. 22-1-112, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

22-1-112. School year - national holidays - Cesar Chavez day. The school year shall begin on the first day of July and end on the thirtieth day of June. The term "national holidays" in this title shall be construed to mean Thanksgiving day, Christmas day, New Year's day, the third Monday in January, observed as the birthday of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Washington-Lincoln day, Memorial day, Labor day, Independence day, and Veterans' day. For purposes of this title, the term "national holidays" shall be construed to also include Cesar Chavez day.

Referendum E:	E: Cesar Chavez State	
Holiday		91

SECTION 5. Refer to people under referendum. This act shall be submitted to a vote of the registered electors of the state of Colorado at the next biennial regular general election, for their approval or rejection, under the provisions of the referendum as provided for in section 1 of article V of the state constitution, and in article 40 of title 1, Colorado Revised Statutes. Each elector voting at said election and desirous of voting for or against said act shall cast a vote as provided by law either "Yes" or "No" on the proposition: "Shall the thirty-first day of March be designated a legal holiday for observing the birthday of Cesar Estrada Chavez as "Cesar Chavez day"?" The votes cast for the adoption or rejection of said act shall be canvassed and the result determined in the manner provided by law for the canvassing of votes for representatives in Congress.

92......Referendum
E: Cesar Chavez State Holiday

LOCAL ELECTION OFFICES

Adams 450 S. Fourth Ave., Brighton, CO 80601-3195 (303) 654-6025

Alamosa 402 Edison Ave., Alamosa, CO 81101-0630 (719) 589-6681

Arapahoe 5334 S. Prince St., Littleton, CO 80166-0211 (303) 795-4511

Archuleta 449 San Juan, Pagosa Springs, CO 81147-2589 (970) 264-5633

Baca 741 Main St., Springfield, CO 81073 (719) 523-4372

Bent 725 Bent, Las Animas, CO 81054-0350 (719) 456-2009

Boulder 1750 33rd St. #200, Boulder, CO 80301 (303) 413-7770

Broomfield One DesCombes Drive, Broomfield, CO 80020 (303) 438-6332

Chaffee 104 Crestone Ave., Salida, CO 81201-0699 (719) 539-4004

Cheyenne P.O. Box 567, Cheyenne Wells, CO 80810-056 (719) 767-5685

Clear Creek 405 Argentine St., Georgetown, CO 80444-2000 (303) 679-2339

Conejos 6683 County Road 13, Conejos, CO 81129-0127 (719) 376-5422

Costilla 416 Gasper St., San Luis, CO 81152-0308 (719) 672-3301

Crowley 110 E. Sixth St., Ordway, CO 81063 (719) 267-4643

Custer 205 S. Sixth St., Westcliffe, CO 81252-0150 (719) 783-2441

Delta 501 Palmer #211, Delta, CO 81416 (970) 874-2150

Denver 303 W. Colfax Ave., Suite 101, Denver, CO 80204 (720) 913-8683

Dolores 409 N. Main St., Dove Creek, CO 81324-0058 (970) 677-2381

Douglas 301 Wilcox St., Castle Rock, CO 80104 (303) 660-7442

Eagle 500 Broadway, Eagle, CO 81631-0537 (970) 328-8710

Elbert P.O. Box 37, Kiowa, CO 80117-0037 (303) 621-3116

El Paso 200 S. Cascade, Colorado Springs, CO 80903 (719) 520-6222

Fremont 615 Macon Ave. #102, Canon City, CO 81212 (719) 276-7330

Garfield 109 Eighth St. #200, Glenwood Spgs, CO 81601 (970) 945-2377

Gilpin 203 Eureka St., Central City, CO 80427-0429 (303) 582-5321

Grand 308 Byers Ave., Hot Sulpur Springs, CO 80451 (970) 725-3347

Gunnison 221 N. Wisconsin, Suite C, Gunnison, CO 81230 (970) 641-1516

Hinsdale 317 N. Henson St., Lake City, CO 81235-0009 (970) 944-2228

Huerfano 401 Main St. Ste 204, Walsenburg, CO 81089 (719) 738-2380

Jackson 396 La Fever St., Walden, CO 80480-0337 (970) 723-4334

Jefferson 100 Jefferson Cty. Pkwy. #2560, Golden, CO 80419 (303) 271-8111

Kiowa 1305 Goff St., Eads, CO 81036-0037 (719) 438-5421

Kit Carson 251 16th St., Burlington, CO 80807-0249 (719) 346-8638

Lake 505 Harrison Ave., Leadville, CO 80461-0917 (719) 486-1410

La Plata 1060 Second Ave., Durango, CO 81301 (970) 382-6294

Larimer 200 W. Oak St., Ft. Collins, CO 80522 (970) 498-7852

Las Animas 200 E. First St. Room 205, Trinidad, CO 81082 (719) 846-3314

Lincoln 103 Third Ave., Hugo, CO 80821-0067 (719) 743-2444

Logan 315 Main St., Sterling, CO 80751-4357 (970) 522-1544

Mesa 2424 Highway 6 & 50 Unit 414,

Grand Junction, CO 81502-5007 (970) 244-1607

Mineral 1201 N. Main St., Creede, CO 81130 (719) 658-2440

Moffat 221 W. Victory Way #200, Craig, CO 81625 (970) 824-9104

Montezuma 109 W. Main St. Room 108, Cortez, CO 81321 (970) 565-3728

Montrose 320 S. First St., Montrose, CO 81401 (970) 249-3362

Morgan 231 Ensign, Ft. Morgan, CO 80701-1399 (970) 542-3521

Otero 13 W. Third St., La Junta, CO 81050-0511 (719) 383-3020

Ouray 541 Fourth St., Ouray, CO 81427 (970) 325-4961

Park 501 Main St., Fairplay, CO 80440-0220 (719) 836-4333

Phillips 221 S. Interocean Ave., Holyoke, CO 80734 (970) 854-3131

Pitkin 530 E. Main St. #101, Aspen, CO 81611 (970) 920-5180

Prowers 301 W. Main St., Lamar, CO 81052-0889 (719) 336-8011

Pueblo 215 W. 10th St., Pueblo, CO 81003-2992 (719) 583-6520

Rio Blanco 555 Main St., Meeker, CO 81641-1067 (970) 878-5068

Rio Grande 965 Sixth St., Del Norte, CO 81132-0160 (719) 657-3334

Routt 522 Lincoln Ave. Steamboat Springs, CO 80477 (970) 870-5556

Saguache 501 Fourth St., Saguache, CO 81149-0176 (719) 655-2512

San Juan 1557 Green St., Silverton, CO 81433-0466 (970) 387-5671

San Miguel 305 W. Colorado Ave., Telluride, CO 81435-0548 (970) 728-3954

Sedgwick 315 Cedar, Julesburg, CO 80737 (970) 474-3346

Summit 208 E. Lincoln, Breckenridge, CO 80424-1538 (970) 453-3475

Teller 101 W. Bennett Ave., Cripple Creek, CO 80813 (719) 689-2951

Washington 150 Ash, Akron, CO 80720 (970) 345-6565

Weld 1402 N. 17th Ave., Greeley, CO 80632 (970) 353-3840

Yuma 310 Ash St. #A, Wray, CO 80758-0426 (970) 332-5809